Assessment of co-processing hydrodeoxygenated fast

pyrolysis oil and vacuum gas oil in a fluid catalytic cracking

unit

by

Ali Alizadeh

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Engineering Management

Department of Mechanical Engineering

University of Alberta

© Ali Alizadeh, 2020

Abstract

The production of liquid biofuels from lignocellulosic biomass feedstock (e.g. forest biomass) has received special attention because these biofuels are carbon neutral, have flexible production and upgrading processes, and can be produced from feedstock that is widely available. The major challenge in the direct substitution of bio-crude or bio-oil for petroleum fuels is their physical properties and compatibilities with existing infrastructure. The potential to use them is limited due to their high water and oxygen contents, thermal instability, and high corrosiveness and viscosity. To improve the quality and physical properties of biomass-based oil, hydroprocessing and hydrocracking into liquid fuels is an option, but these processes require a large capital investment to build standalone units. One way to resolve the challenges in the upgrading of bio-oil is to co-process it with crude oil in a petroleum refinery and take advantage of existing facilities. Suitable biomass-based oil can be mixed with conventional crude oil and processed at the same facility. This offers several advantages, including reducing capital costs (i.e., compared to building a standalone bio-refinery) and blending at a several co-processing ratios, depending on the refinery unit's ability to handle the bio-oil and the physical properties of the bio-oil.

In this study, processing hydrodeoxygenetaed bio-oil from biomass fast pyrolysis with vacuum gas oil in a refinery's fluidized catalytic cracking (FCC) unit was considered as the co-processing pathway. There have been many studies on the technical feasibility of this co-processing method, and the physical properties of hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil (HDO) show promising results for co-processing operations. A conceptual framework was developed to understand the associated costs of co-processing bio-oil with conventional crude and its effect on the FCC unit economics. A rigorous simulation model was developed to analyze the effects of adding new feedstocks to the

refinery's FCC units. The refinery operating conditions before and after co-processing operations were based on the developed simulation model and was used to analyze the cost effects of co-processing in a refinery operation.

The simulation results show that by mixing 10 wt.% hydrodeoxygenated pyrolysis oil with vacuum gas oil, overall FCC unit CO₂ emissions can be reduced by 4% with almost the same gasoline yield. The developed cost model shows that as a result of co-processing, gasoline and diesel production costs will increase by 6.8 ¢/litre and 2.7 ¢/litre, respectively, while almost the same amounts of these products are produced. Co-processing HDO with vacuum gas oil (VGO) is technically feasible based on earlier experimental studies and will introduce renewable content to refinery transportation fuels at the time of production. The information developed in this study could be used as a preliminary assessment of co-processing of bio-oil with conventional crudes.

Preface

This thesis is original work by Ali Alizadeh under the supervision of Dr. Amit Kumar. Chapter 2 will be submitted as Alizadeh, A., Kurian, V., Oyedun, A., Biswas, D., Kumar, A., "Co-processing biomass-derived oils with petroleum feedstocks: A review" to a peer-reviewed journal. Chapter 3 is prepared for submission to a peer-reviewed journal as Alizadeh, A., Oni, A.O., Kurian, V., Oyedun, A., Kumar, A., "Simulation study and economic analysis of coprocessing hydrodeoxygenated fast pyrolysis oil and vacuum gas oil in an FCC unit." I was responsible for the concept formulation, data collection, analysis, model development, and manuscript composition for each. Dr. Adetoyese Oyedun, Dr. Vinoj Kurian and Dr. Abayomi Olufemi assisted in model development and manuscript edits. Dr. Amit Kumar was the supervisory author and was involved with concept formulation, evaluation, assessment of results, and manuscript edits.

To my lovely wife and son,

Ali Alizadeh

September 2020

Acknowledgments

I like to acknowledge the NSERC/Cenovus/Alberta Innovates Associate Industrial Research Chair in Energy and Environmental Systems Engineering and the Cenovus Energy Endowed Chair in Environmental Engineering for providing financial support for this project.

I sincerely appreciate Dr. Amit Kumar's support and guidance throughout my program. He gave me an excellent opportunity to conduct my research in his group and also provided me with recommendations and feedback that guided me in the right direction throughout my study. I would not have finished my program if I had not had continuous technical and emotional support from Dr. Kumar.

Additionally, I would like to acknowledge my examining committee members for their interest and time for my research and their valuable comments on my work. I express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Adetoyese Oyedun, Dr. Vinoj Kurian, Dr. Abayomi Olufemi, and Dr. Madhumita Patel, the postdoctoral fellows in my research group. Thank you so much for your time, support, and valuable input in my work. Your feedback and comments significantly improved the quality of my work. I would also like to thank Astrid Blodgett for editing this work and providing comments to improve the quality and clarity of my thesis.

Table of Contents

Abstract			
Prefaceiv			
Ackn	owledgments		
List o	f Figuresxi		
Abbr	Abbreviations		
Chapt	er 1: Introduction 1		
1.1.	Background 1		
1.2.	Literature review and research gap		
1.3.	Research objective		
1.4.	Limitation of this study		
1.5.	Organization of the thesis		
Chapt	er 2: Co-processing biomass-derived oils with petroleum feedstocks: A review		
2.1.	Introduction		
2.2.	Production processes for biomass-derived oils		
2.2.1.	Fast pyrolysis		
2.2.2.	Intermediate pyrolysis		
2.2.3.	Catalytic pyrolysis		
2.2.4.	Hydropyrolysis		
2.2.5.	Hydrothermal liquefaction		
2.3.	Upgrading options		
2.3.1.	Hydrodeoxygenation		
2.3.2.	High-pressure thermal treatment (HPTT)		
2.4.	Identified co-processing opportunities		

2.4.1.	Physical properties of produced oil	. 24
2.4.1.1	. Acidity	. 28
2.4.1.2	2. Density	. 28
2.4.1.3	5. Stability	. 28
2.4.2.	Potential co-processing routes	. 29
2.4.2.1	. Co-processing of hydrodeoxygenated pyrolysis oil in an FCC unit	. 29
2.4.2.1	1. Effects on product distribution, quality, and overall conversions	. 30
2.4.2.1	2. Coke and light gas formation	. 31
2.4.2.2	2. Co-processing raw fast pyrolysis oil in an FCC plant	. 32
2.4.2.3	Co-processing opportunity for catalytic pyrolysis oil	. 34
2.4.2.4	Co-processing opportunity for hydrothermal liquefaction bio-crude	. 35
2.5.	Research gaps	. 35
Chapte	er 3: Assessment of co-processing of hydrodeoxygenated fast pyrolysis oil and vacuum	gas
oil in a	n FCC unit	. 37
3.1.	Introduction	. 37
3.2.	Methods	. 39
3.2.1.	Physical properties of HDO	. 40
3.2.2.	FCC unit description	. 42
3.2.2.1	. Riser-regenerator configuration	. 42
3.2.2.2	2. Downstream distillation	. 43
3.2.3.	Simulation model description	. 44
3.2.4.	Simulation model validation	. 47
3.2.5.	Description of the economic assessment	. 50
3.2.6.	Bio-carbon content analysis	. 54
3.3.	Results and discussion	. 56

3.3.1.	The co-processing operation	56
3.3.2.	Bio-carbon content analysis of the co-processing operation	59
3.3.3.	Economic assessment	60
3.4.	Comparison of cost of drop-in fuels and incremental cost of co-processing	63
3.5.	Conclusion	64
Chapte	er 4: Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work	66
4.1.	Conclusion	66
4.2.	Recommendations for Future Work	70
Refere	ences:	72
Appen	ndix A	. 85

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Properties of pyrolysis oil, heavy fuel oil, and crude oil
Table 2.2: Properties of stabilized bio-crude through hydrothermal liquefaction19
Table 2.3 Physical properties of different biomass-derived oils and petroleum feedstocks for
comparison
Table 3.1. Properties of HDO and VGO41
Table 3.2. Main parameters use in FCC unit modelling
Table 3.3. Cost analysis model inputs (2018 average)
Table 3.4. Overall FCC unit product yield (tonne/hr)
Table 3.5. FCC unit performance before and after co-processing (tonne/hr)
Table 3.6. Bio- C analysis for the base case and co-processing operations60
Table 3.7. Main cost analysis results for co-processing 10% HDO (USD)
Table 3.8. Drop-in bioethanol added cost for the refinery (2018 USD)
Table 4.1. Bio- C analysis for the base case and co-processing operations
Table 4.2. Drop-in bioethanol added cost for the refinery
Table A.1. Simulation results of process main stream (VGO only case)
Table A.2. Simulation results of process main stream (VGO + HDO case)

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Co-processing options10
Figure 2.2 Product yields of different pyrolysis processes
Figure 3.1 First- and second-generation biofuels with petroleum feedstocks
Figure 3.2 Assay characteristics of HDO and some petroleum feedstocks41
Figure 3.3 Fluidized catalytic cracker (FCC) unit schematic operation
Figure 3.4 Overall snapshot of the process simulation model for HDO co-processing45
Figure 3.5 FCC reactor product distribution comparison
Figure 3.6 Comparison of FCC reactor products' yields at different conversion rates
Figure 3.7 Economic analysis model main parameters
Figure 3.8 Added production cost sensitivity analysis for (a) gasoline (b) diesel62
Figure 3.9 Ethanol price outlook
Figure 4.1 Added production cost sensitivity analysis for (a) gasoline (b) diesel69
Figure A.1: Simulation model main flowsheet

Abbreviations

API	American Petroleum Institute
bbl	Barrel
bpd	Barrels per day
CAT/OIL	Catalyst to oil ratio
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
СРО	Catalytic pyrolysis oil
FCC	Fluid catalytic cracking
GHG	Greenhouse gas
HDO	Hydrodeoxygenation
HHV	High heating value
HPTT	High-pressure thermal treatment
HTL	Hydrothermal liquefaction
LCO	Light cycle oil
LHV	Lower heating value
LPG	Liquefied petroleum gas
MAT	Micro-activity test reactor
MCRT	Micro carbon residue test
MFSP	Minimum fuel selling price
MW	Megawatt
NL	Normal litre
ROT	Riser outlet temperature
RVP	Reid vapour pressure
SLM	Standard litre per minute
TAN	Total acid number
TCR	Thermo-catalytic reforming®
VGO	Vacuum gas oil
WHSV	Weight hourly space velocities

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

An increase in global energy demand combined with new climate change policies has resulted in a continued push for renewable energy sources. The production of liquid fuels from non-food biomass feedstocks is receiving special attention because these biofuels are nearly carbon neutral, has flexible production and upgrading processes, and uses low-value feedstock that is widely available [1]. First-generation biofuels, e.g. bioethanol or biodiesel, are produced from edible energy crops, including sugar, starch and oil crops [2]. Corn produced for ethanol would use the same land, water, and fertilizer used by the agricultural industry to grow crops for food production, and thus first-generation biofuels compete directly with the food chain and increase food prices [2-7]. Hence there is a need for second-generation biofuels which is produced from non-food-based feedstock (e.g., agricultural and forestry residue, algae) that is either waste material (e.g. waste vegetable oils and fats) or can be produced in marginal lands. These biofuels have several advantages over the first-generation biofuels. There is a large potential of producing the second-generation fuels in a more sustainable and economical production way without competing with food crops [2].

Second-generation biofuels can be produced through the thermochemical conversion of biomass and further upgrading of the produced bio-oil or bio-crude. Bio-oil from fast pyrolysis is mainly produced from biomass residues at a temperature of 450-550 °C in the

absence of air, a high heating rate, and a residence time less than 2 seconds [8-11]. Biocrude, on the other hand, can be produced from the hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of wet biomass feedstocks. The process takes place at an operating temperature of 300-350 °C at 5-20 MPa for 5-60 minutes with water in the liquid phase [12]. The major challenge of the direct substitution of bio-crude or bio-oil for petroleum fuels is the cost of hydroprocessing and hydrocracking into liquid fuels [13]. The potential of their use, without any upgrading, is limited due to their high water and ash contents, instability, and high corrosiveness and viscosity [13].

One of the ways to overcome this limitation is to process the produced fuels in a standalone bio-refinery and to produce bio-diesel or bio-gasoline as final products. Although this approach is technically feasible, it is not viable to produce biofuels this way given the high capital investment needed to build a new bio-refinery. Thus, using existing infrastructures, refineries, and distribution facilities has received attention recently. Many researchers around the world are working to understand the advantages and disadvantages of coprocessing bio-oil in a conventional oil refinery with petroleum crude oil. This coprocessing operation has the advantage of using the existing infrastructure, and therefore reduces the capital cost. However, there is a need to understand the possible effects of adding bio-oil (or bio-crude) to a refinery feedstock from a technical and economical perspective. This research analyzes co-processing bio-oil in a refinery FCC unit and the associated economic effects.

1.2. Literature review and research gap

One of the ways to decrease the cost of second-generation biofuel production, compared to producing biofuel in a standalone bio-refinery, is to co-process with crude oil in an existing petroleum refinery facility. Co-processing bio-crude with crude oil helps in using the existing infrastructure and hence could help in producing biofuel as lower cost than the conventional method of producing biofuels.

Some studies focus on co-processing bio-oil or bio-crude with petroleum crude oil and examine the parameters and feasibility of co-processing operations [1, 14-21]. Mante et al. summarized some physical properties of bio-oil that are required to introduce it to the refinery, mainly to the fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) unit [19]. The authors briefly explained why properties such as the acidity, API gravity, viscosity, storage stability, distillation curve, composition, miscibility, and carbon residue of bio-oil should be monitored and, in most cases, improved before being blended with crude oil.

Mercader et al. studied the effects of upgrading technologies and operating conditions on bio-crude properties that are essential for successful FCC co-processing of pyrolysis oil [14]. Based on their findings, despite high oxygen content (17-28 %), hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil derived from pyrolysis could be successfully blended and co-processed with petroleum crude oil up to 20 wt.% without causing a significant increase in coke or light gas formation. Hoffmann et al. focused on the chemical and thermophysical analysis of bio-crude from the hydrothermal liquefaction unit to determine the bulk and fractional properties that will be required for downstream processing [1]. Their results suggested that only minor upgrading is needed to achieve the necessary co-processing properties.

Co-processing raw biomass-based oil with crude oil usually results in significant coke or light gas formation [14, 16]. For this reason, Fogassy et al. conducted further research to establish and understand the reason for the production of more coke and more aromatic gasoline fractions during co-processing [16]. They used the carbon-14 method to discriminate fossil carbon from bio-carbon and found that not all FCC products receive biocarbon content equally. Their results revealed that oxygenated molecules of bio-oil are processed more easily than crude oil hydrocarbons, resulting in more coke and light gas production inside the FCC reactor. Thegarid et al. examined the possibility of eliminating the intermediate upgrading process (mainly hydrodeoxygenation) to lower the capital cost of the plant [21]. It has been shown that thermal pyrolysis oil cannot be co-processed directly, but instead some moderate upgrading (e.g., hydrodeoxygenation) is needed. They tested the possibility of co-processing catalytic pyrolysis oil (CPO), instead of thermal pyrolysis oil, with vacuum gas oil (VGO) and found that CPO can be directly co-processed with VGO if it is mixed with more than 80 wt.% VGO. However, some differences in distribution and quality between the co-processing of both HDO product (hydrodeoxygenated oil) and CPO have been observed. The authors suggested that a new catalyst for both FCC and pyrolysis may solve the problems and eliminate the need for an intermediate upgrading process. A more detailed review is included in Chapter 2 of the thesis.

In light of these studies, it is clear that the technology is still under development, and studies need focus on the feasibility of upgrading or co-processing bio-oil and bio-crude in existing refineries without operational problems. Moreover, there are no economic assessment or environmental analyses of the co-processing of bio-oil with crude oil. An economic assessment is essential to examine the overall cost and additional expenses of the process, and carbon change assessment is necessary to understand the environmental impact of the entire process. There is no comprehensive study that focuses on and summarizes the effects of the different bio-oil production processes (thermal pyrolysis, catalytic pyrolysis, and HTL) and upgrading routes (HDO, HTT) on the properties of the produced bio-crude and its co-processing possibilities. These gaps need to be assessed.

1.3. Research objective

The overall objective of the current research is to understand the effect of co-processing hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil with vacuum gas oil in a fluidized catalytic cracker unit of a conventional oil refinery through development of process models. Replacing VGO with HDO (up to 10%) in the FCC unit may affect the FCC reactor operation and cause some operational challenges like polymerization, excessive coking, and off-gas formation. Also, this change in feedstock composition may change the total gasoline, diesel, and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) yields and therefore the costs. Another important effect will be the bio-carbon content of the final products. This parameter should also be monitored to make sure produced transportation fuels meet mandated regulatory requirements. The specific objectives are to:

- Develop a detailed process simulation model to analyze the effects of co-processing HDO on the refinery's FCC unit operation
- Develop a cost model with inputs from the process simulation model to perform an economic analysis for the co-processing
- Perform a bio-carbon content analysis to demonstrate transportation fuels' compliance with current (and potential future) mandated regulatory requirements.
- Conduct sensitivity analysis to understand the impact of various input parameters on the results

1.4. Limitation of this study

This study was performed to develop a framework to understand the effects of co-processing biomass-based intermediate products with vacuum gas oil in a standard refinery's operation. The main assumptions and inputs of this study are based on publicly available experimental research data. Therefore no experimental research was performed to independently analyze all the effects of co-processing in FCC reactor operation, performance, catalyst activity and any potential operational challenges. The bio-carbon content of the final products was calculated using the mass balance method as using any experimental method (e.g. ¹⁴C) was not feasible.

1.5. Organization of the thesis

This is a paper-based thesis and organized in 4 chapters as follows. Chapter 2 is the literature review and summary chapter. In this chapter, processes for the production of bio-oil from

biomass feedstock are summarized and the advantages and drawbacks of each process are examined. Also, as the main objective of this research is the co-processing of bio-oil with petroleum-based feedstocks, available research data on bio-oil upgrading options and coprocessing are reviewed and presented in the chapter.

Chapter 3 presents the main method and results of the current research in co-processing hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil produced from the fast pyrolysis of biomass in a refinery FCC unit. In this chapter, the developed simulation model for co-processing is discussed . This also discusses the cost of transportation fuel production through co-processing.

Chapter 4 summarizes the key results of this research and makes recommendations for future work are discussed.

Chapter 2: Co-processing biomass-derived oils with petroleum feedstocks: A review

2.1. Introduction

An increase in global energy demand combined with new climate change policies has led to a continued push for renewable energy sources. The production of liquid fuels (secondgeneration biofuel) from non-food biomass feedstocks (e.g., wood chips, straw) is receiving special attention because these biofuels are nearly carbon neutral, have flexible production and upgrading processes, and can be produced from low-value feedstock [1]. As summarized by Naik et al., first-generation biofuels like biodiesel, corn ethanol, and sugar alcohol offer some benefits; these are environmentally friendly and is also a safe source of fuel [3]. The main disadvantage of these fuels is their limited feedstock availability (some are also required as food). Second-generation fuels, i.e., hydrodeoxygenated oil, bio-oil, lignocellulosic ethanol, butanol, and mixed alcohols, offer the same advantages compared to first-generation biofuels as these do not compete with the food chain.

Liquid fuels can be produced through the thermochemical conversion of biomass and upgrading the produced bio-oil or bio-crude. The primary thermochemical conversion processes are pyrolysis and hydrothermal liquefaction. In fast pyrolysis, biomass is heated rapidly in an oxygen-free atmosphere. This process generates a vapour product that contains all the volatile components and can be liquefied in subsequent operations to make liquid products. In case of high initial moisture content of the biomass, hydrothermal liquefaction is another thermochemical conversion method that can be used to produce liquid products. High temperature and pressure operating conditions of this process help to break organic components of the biomass to smaller molecules [22]. Decompositions of biomass and repolymerizations reactions to form bio-crude take place in a highly reactive environment in the presence of a solvent, water in most cases [23].The major challenge with the direct substitution of bio-crude or bio-oil for petroleum fuels is the need for hydroprocessing and hydrocracking to improve the qualities of the raw bio-oil or bio-crude [13]. The potential to use them is limited due to their high water and ash contents, instability, and high corrosiveness and viscosity [13]. Separate upgrading can by avoided by co-processing the bio-oil with crude oil in existing standard refinery and distribution facilities. Blending and co-processing biomass-derived intermediate oils with petroleum feedstocks has several advantages such as minimizing capital cost by using existing infrastructures, the ability to blend at various co-processing ratios, and operational flexibility [24, 25].

When identifying possible co-processing options, decisions should be made regarding feedstock source, bio-oil production process, required upgrading process, and mixing point in the refinery operation.

Figure 2.1 illustrates all the options for each step. Theoretically, every combination of these options can be a co-processing route that needs to be investigated.



Figure 2.1 Co-processing options

In section 2.3, the methods of producing bio-oil from agricultural and forestry residues is described. The differences in process, quality, and quantity (yield) of the liquid product as the source for transportation fuels are also summarized in this section. Many researchers have suggested that directly feeding bio-oil to refinery units is not possible and could cause problems such as corrosion, excessive coke formation, and instability in product quality [26-31]. Therefore, upgrading is necessary before co-processing. In section 2.3, the available upgrading options and their advantages and drawbacks are summarized. In section 2.4, the physical properties of bio-oil produced from different production and upgrading methods and

compare them to petroleum feedstocks are summarized. The physical properties required by the refinery for a successful co-processing is also described. The potential mixing point in the refinery for co-processing is described in more detail and the findings of other research on co-processing are illustrated at the end of section 2.4.

2.2. Production processes for biomass-derived oils

Biomass can be processed in thermochemical, biological, chemical, and physical conversion processes depending on the final product sought [3]. Thermochemical conversion is one of the oldest methods and has been used over a long time to make bio-coal. Thermochemical processes can be categorized into production methods based on the main product. Pyrolysis and hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) lead to more liquid products that can potentially be converted into transportation fuels [32]. Torrefaction and gasification give more solid (char) and gas products, respectively[32]. As this work is mainly focused on transportation fuels, pyrolysis and HTL are the production methods considered. Gasification of biomass material followed by Fischer-Tropsch reactions to convert the extracted gas to liquid fuels (like methanol) is another option[23, 33]. The high capital cost of this process is a big disadvantage, and research is still needed to find new production methods and to reduce the required capital cost[4].

Fast pyrolysis is a well understood process for biomass processing that mainly produces liquid products. To improve the quality of the liquid product, some modifications have been suggested by many research groups. In in situ or ex situ catalytic pyrolysis, the catalyst was used to change the reaction mechanism from solely thermal to thermal and catalytic to produce more desirable products[34, 35]. Intermediate pyrolysis is another type of modification that changes the heating rate and residence time to produce liquids with lower oxygen content[36]. In a newly proposed method, hydrogen was added to the pyrolysis reactor to have thermal cracking and upgrading at the same time[37-40]. Hydrothermal liquefaction is another production method that is different from pyrolysis; it offers significant advantages and makes liquid products with acceptable yield and quality[6, 18, 23, 41, 42]. All these production methods will be described in detail in the following sections.

2.2.1. Fast pyrolysis

Fast pyrolysis of biomass is the main process considered for bio-oil production because its operation is relatively simple and it has been demonstrated at large pilot/pre-commercial scale [43-45]. In this process, biomass decomposes in a thermo-chemical process by rapid heating in the absence of oxygen. The product is a solid that is rich in carbon and a vapour stream that contains all the volatile matter. The solid (biochar) can be burned to provide the required heat and energy for the process or used for other applications. The vapour from the process is condensed to make a liquid fraction called tar or bio-oil with non-condensable gas that can be used to produce chemicals (olefins) or burned to provide the energy [46]. The most important features and steps of this process are summarized by Bridgwater as [32]:

• Drying the feed to less than 10% water content to minimize the water content of the final liquid product;

A very small biomass particle size (less than 3 mm) is required to provide enough surface area for heat transfer to occur;

A controlled reaction temperature of around 500 °C to maximize the liquid yield;

A short vapour residence time (around 2 seconds) to minimize over cracking and excess off-gas formation;

Rapid cooling of the vapour to prevent subsequent polymerization reactions.

Varying the heating rate and residence time leads to a different type of pyrolysis and different product yields. Figure 2.2 shows the product distribution based on the pyrolysis type.



Figure 2.2 Product yields of different pyrolysis processes, from Bridgwater [32]

High liquid yield, up to 70-80 wt.%, makes fast pyrolysis a very suitable candidate for transportation fuels. The produced oil is a multi-component mixture from the depolymerization of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. The physical properties of this oil are summarized in Table 2.1 and compared with typical heavy fuel oil. Bio-oil has a high water content (15-30%) that makes its heating value almost 50% less than a petroleum feedstock [9]. The presence of oxygen in more than 300 components in the bio-oil makes it immiscible with hydrocarbon fuels and leads to low pH values of around 2-3 [9]. The low pH value makes bio-oil very corrosive and thus all the processing equipment (for example to upgrade the bio-oil to biofuel) be made of a special material type to resist corrosion [9]

Physical property	Bio-oil	Crude oil	Heavy fuel oil
Density (g/cm ³)	1.05-1.25	0.86-0.92	0.94
Viscosity (cP)	40-100	180	180
Water content (wt.%)	15-30	< 0.1	0.1
рН	2.8-3.8	-	-
Nitrogen (wt.%)	0-0.2	<1	0.3
Hydrogen (wt.%)	5-7	11-14	11
Carbon (wt.%)	54-65	83-86	85
Oxygen (wt.%)	28-40	<1	1
Higher heating value (MJ/kg)	16-19	44	40

 Table 2.1 Properties of pyrolysis oil, heavy fuel oil, and crude oil [9, 47]

2.2.2. Intermediate pyrolysis

Intermediate pyrolysis, in most studies, is defined as a process whose heat transfer rate is between those of slow and fast pyrolysis processes, typically in the range of 200-500 °C/min, and solid residence times of 10 minutes [48, 49]. It has been claimed that the liquid fractions produced through intermediate process are around 34% [48] and 75% from the fast pyrolysis for woody feedstock. In this review, intermediate pyrolysis has been reviewed developed by the Fraunhofer Institute for Environmental, Safety, and Energy Technology, UMISCHT [50]. Thermo-catalytic reforming[®] (TCR) is the main aspect of this technology and comprises a multi-zone horizontal auger screw reactor[51-53]. In TCR, pretreated biomass is heated in an inert environment and converts to bio-oil, char, and gases. Produced gas passes through a catalytic reformer at 700 °C where reforming takes place and eventually condenses to form bio-oil, permanent gases, and moisture [50, 52, 54]. These product gases have a higher percentage of hydrogen, which can be exploited for fuel synthesis and the production of green chemicals like methanol [50, 54]. Studies show that the content of the product gases differs depending on the biomass feed composition. Neumann et al. report a yield of 31% char, 8% bio-oil, 41% permanent gases, and 20% aqueous when digestate from anaerobic digestion plant is used as the feedstock [51]. The produced bio-oil typically has 7-11% oxygen content, less than 2% water content, a higher heating value greater than 36.7 MJ/kg, and a total acid number less than 5g KOH /kg [55]. Product gas has up to 55% hydrogen, up to 35% carbon dioxide, up to 25% carbon monoxide, and trace amounts of methane and volatile hydrocarbons [55]. One of the advantages of TCR is its flexibility in handling various feedstock types, which has led to focus on various waste streams and municipal sludge as a

potential feedstock. However, the feedstock must go through different pre-treatment stages like drying, sorting, shredding, and pelletizing [53]. Ouadi et al. carried out TCR experiments on household residual waste, which was treated to produce pellets and then fed into the reactor, producing 44 wt.% gas, 31 wt.% char, 19 wt.% aqueous phase, and 6 wt.% bio-oil phase [53]. The bio-oil has 6.7% oxygen, a total acid number of 2.9 mg KOH/g, and a higher heating value of 38.2 MJ/kg and is thus comparable to biodiesel [53]. Also, there are different studies on upgrading this TCR oil to be used as a transportation fuel. Neumann et al. report an oxygen content lower than 0.8% when they subjected TCR oil to catalytic hydrodeoxygenation; water content decreased from 2.2% to 0.003%, the total acid number (TAN) fell from 2.1 mg KOH/g to below the detection level, and the lower heating value (LHV) increased from 34.0 MJ/kg to 42.3 MJ/kg making this oil comparable to that of gasoline and diesel [55].

2.2.3. Catalytic pyrolysis

The catalytic pyrolysis of biomass is an effective means of using bio-oil as a transportation fuel. This process eliminates oxygen content through a series of simultaneous dehydration, decarboxylation, oligomerization, aromatization, alkylation, and decarbonylation reactions with the help of a catalyst, typically zeolites[56]. Studies show that the cumulative approach of pyrolysis and catalyst use, resulting in high-quality bio-oils, is the biggest advantage of this process. Catalysts like synthetic zeolites (e.g., ZSM-5, HZSM-5) have been explored for yield enhancement with all possible reactor combinations, for in situ,/ex situ systems, and different temperature and pressure conditions [35, 56, 57]. The reactors that have been

studied widely for catalytic pyrolysis are fixed-bed, fluidized bed, and auger reactors [35, 57]. Hu et al. report an increase of bio-oil yield from 19.7-42.3% in a non-catalytic process to 64.1-68.8% with NaY zeolite catalysts for catalytic pyrolysis of different species of bamboo in a fixed bed reactor [58]. A study by French and Czernik reports that the choice of catalyst for a specific biomass is the most important parameter in enhancing bio-oil yield, but no strong agreement between these two parameters has been developed, and therefore a range of bio-oil yields results [35]. However, the factor that most affects bio-oil yield's commercial adaptability is the deposition of coke (which is roughly 30% of the carbon [40]) on active catalyst sites, which quickly deactivates the catalyst.

2.2.4. Hydropyrolysis

Hydropyrolysis is one of the oldest studied techniques for coal thermal decomposition and has recently been used to produce bio-oils from biomass in the presence of hydrogen [40, 59]. In this process the hydrogen radicals generated by the hydrogen gas react with the volatiles from the biomass, producing carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, and water. Studies claim that the percentage of oxygen in the bio-oils is lower than in the bio-oils generated from pyrolysis because of the presence of hydrogen. Also, as an exothermic process, hydropyrolysis naturally generates heat that fuels the reactions and thus there is no need for an external heating medium, unlike an endothermic pyrolysis process. Fast hydropyrolysis reduces residence times through high heating rates of 500 °C/s in fluidized bed reactors [40]. Although hydropyrolysis has been studied for different feedstocks – from lignin to woody feedstock to sugarcane bagasse under different temperature and hydrogen pressure conditions

– some studies report no significant progress over non-catalytic pyrolysis or processes using lower hydrogen pressures than pyrolysis does [59]. Catalytic hydropyrolysis has garnered attention recently because it uses a lower hydrogen pressure (20-35 bar) than non-catalytic hydropyrolysis (150-700 bar) [40, 59]. A major study in this area was conducted by the Gas Technology Institute; the study comprised an integrated catalytic hydropyrolysis process coupled with hydroconversion in a 2 kg/hr plant that eventually ran at pilot scale at 50 kg/day. The process achieved a 28 wt.% yield of hydrocarbons in the gasoline and diesel range and 35-40% water produced in a separate phase, which the researchers claim is carbon-free [40, 60]. The researchers also anticipate that reforming the C1-C3 hydrocarbons and CO will provide the hydrogen internally, thereby making the process more economical [40, 60]. There has been no testing done to prove the feasibility of this approach.

2.2.5. Hydrothermal liquefaction

Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) is one of the popular methods of producing liquid fuels from biomass apart from pyrolysis [7]. Biomass with moisture content less than 20% can be liquefied via pyrolysis; with a moisture content above 20%, a drying stage is required, and thus the process is less economical. Hydrothermal liquefaction can handle water-rich biomass feedstocks since water acts both as a reactant and catalyst and facilitates the decomposition process [7]. HTL is normally carried out at lower temperatures and lower heating rates than pyrolysis. The operating temperature and pressure are in the range of 523-647K and 4-22MPa, respectively, [61]. Depending on the operating conditions (i.e., temperature, pressure, catalyst, reaction time), the desired products – biochar, bio-oil or product gases like

hydrogen, methane, etc. – can be obtained [62]. The bio-oil produced by HTL has lower oxygen content (<2% oxygen) than that produced by fast pyrolysis, and the overall process proved to be energy efficient as it was carried out at lower temperatures than pyrolysis [7, 62]. Main properties of the bio-crude from HTL are listed in Table 2.2 [7]. Catalytic hydrothermal liquefaction was developed in large part to reduce the formation of char and tar through homogenous and heterogeneous catalysts. Some studies report the use of alkali salts, which have been seen to reduce the formation of char, thereby increasing the yield of the desired product. However, the use of a homogenous catalyst is energy-intensive due to the recovery of the catalyst. A study by Kumar et al. reports using heterogenous catalysts like platinum, nickel, and metal oxides and shows improvement in bio-oil yield [62].

 Table 2.2: Properties of stabilized bio-crude through hydrothermal liquefaction

 (derived from [63, 64])

Physical property	Bio-crude	Bio-crude
Density (g/cm ³)	0.761	0.7747
Total acid number (mg KOH/g oil)	<0.01	n/a
Viscosity (cP)	1.29	1.96
Carbon (wt.%)	83.4	84.2
Hydrogen (wt.%)	13.5	13.9
Oxygen (wt.%)	0.07	1.7
Nitrogen (wt.%)	<0.05	0.1
Sulphur (wt.%)	< 0.005	0.0063

Cao et al. report in their review paper on the hydrothermal liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes that biomass feedstock type is one of the most important parameters in the HTL process [65]. Studies conducted on the hydrothermal liquefaction of beechwood biomass in a 0.6 L stirred batch reactor at 300 °C for a holding time of 60 mins give a biooil yield of 14% and 28% without and with sodium hydroxide [41]. The authors concluded that the presence of a strong base favours the conversion to bio-oil and inhibits the production of biochar [41]. Feng et al. report the yields of HTL from three different lignocellulosic feedstocks, white spruce bark, birch bark, and white pine bark, under the same operating conditions as 58%, 67%, and 36%, respectively [66]. The authors attribute the results to lignin, the most stable component in nature, and therefore resistant to the coking process in liquefaction, whereas cellulose and hemicellulose degrade faster in the liquefaction process as their physical structure is relatively simpler than lignin [66]. Zhu et al. conducted a techno-economic assessment and estimated the minimum fuel selling price (MFSP) for hydrotreated HTL oil to be 1.29\$/L for a single standalone HTL and upgrading plant [67].

2.3. Upgrading options

Biomass-derived oil is composed of a complex mixture of oxygenated hydrocarbons. For example, there are 300+ components in pyrolysis oil. The main components of bio-oil are acids, aldehydes, ketones, alcohols, glycols, esters, ethers, phenols, and phenol derivatives, as well as carbohydrates and lignin-derived oligomers [31]. Because of the high oxygen content, 30-55 wt. % depending on the biomass source, bio-oil has some properties (i.e., low heating value and immiscibility with hydrocarbons, chemical and thermal instability, high

viscosity, and corrosiveness) that should be addressed before any attempt is made to introduce it in a conventional refinery [31]. Several upgrading routes have been proposed to date to lower the oxygen content of the bio-oil and thereby improve its quality for processing in a refinery unit operation. These methods are categorized as hydrodeoxygenation (HDO) and high-pressure thermal treatment [25].

Hydrodeoxygenation uses high-pressure hydrogen to remove the oxygen as water using mixed oxides and supported metal catalysts. Although this method has been successful for upgrading the bio-oil and even producing bio-gasoline and bio-diesel, an obvious disadvantage is the high amount of hydrogen required and associated costs. Since hydrogen is in high demand in refinery operations, research is underway into alternative upgrading methods[25, 68, 69]. High-pressure thermal treatment, the other main method, has not been proven commercially and technically feasible.

2.3.1. Hydrodeoxygenation

The hydroprocessing of bio-oil is the main upgrading path currently being considered by many researchers. Hydrodeoxygenation is normally performed in two steps, stabilization and upgrading, to prevent excessive coke formation. The first step is carried out at a relatively low temperature (150-170 °C) to stabilize the oil and the second step at higher temperatures (350 -380 °C), when deoxygenation (> 95%) occurs [25].

Recent research on hydroprocessing has been focused on optimizing the operating conditions of the two-step upgrading process, reducing hydrogen consumption, and developing new catalysts solely for biomass-derived oil hydroprocessing [70]. Most of the research focuses on hydrotreating the bio-oil to produce renewable fuel (as a final product), but French et al. attempted to upgrade the bio-oil just enough to be able to co-process the product in a refinery [71]. They processed the bio-oil in two-step hydrotreatment at 150/360 °C and 2500 PSIG hydrogen pressure and a hydrogen flowrate of 4.087 Nl/minute/kg of bio-oil (1.5 slm for oil charge of 400g) for 1 hour on each step [71].

Depending on the hydrotreating operating conditions, the final product's physical properties will differ. Gueudre et al. examined the function of hydrotreating severity, in terms of hydrogen consumption and operating temperature, on conversion, yield, and naphtha or gasoline composition in co-processing with vacuum gas oil (VGO) in a fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) reactor [28]. In their experiment, the pyrolysis oil was first hydrotreated on the Ni-based catalyst (at a hydrogen pressure of 200 bar and temperature of 250 °C) and the resulting oil was treated at different temperatures (80-320 °C) to find the optimum operating conditions. The authors found that an optimum naphtha quality can be achieved by the mild hydrotreating of bio-oil corresponding to 200 Nl of hydrogen per kg of pyrolysis oil (this corresponds to a maximum hydrotreating bed temperature of 320 °C). At these operating conditions, the authors observed a reduction of 25% in MCRT (micro carbon residue test), 50% in TAN, and 50% in O/C compared to the initial pyrolysis oil [28].

2.3.2. High-pressure thermal treatment (HPTT)

To reduce the operating costs of bio-oil upgrading, the Biomass Technology Group (BTG) in the Netherlands and the University of Twente developed a method to reduce the oxygen and water content and thereby increase the energy content of bio-oil (from 14.1 to 28.4 MJ/kg) [30]. In this process, pyrolysis oil was thermally treated at 140 bar and 300-340 °C for several minutes. High pressure is required to prevent the water from evaporating and extensive charring of the oil. The researchers found that the oxygen content decreased from 40 wt.% to 23 wt.%, because of the formation of gaseous CO₂. This method is a cheap upgrading method that does not need a catalyst or hydrogen for upgrading. It produces refinery-ready bio-oil that can be directly (or with mild hydrodeoxygenation and little hydrogen) processed in refinery units. Although it is an attractive method, more research is required to overcome some polymerization problems that were observed [30].

2.4. Identified co-processing opportunities

As discussed earlier, the use of biomass-derived oils as transportation fuels is limited due to their high water and ash contents, instability, and high corrosiveness and viscosity [43]. One way to resolve the challenges faced by upgrading bio-oil is to co-process it with crude oil in an existing standard refinery, production, and distribution facilities. In selecting a specific pathway for co-processing, the potential effects on the refinery and general process chain (from biomass to transportation fuels with renewable contents) should be examined from technical, financial, regulatory compliance, refinery operation, and supply chain views.

From a process perspective (on the individual refinery unit level), the effects of adding a new feedstock to the process and possible operation upsets, changes in the yield and quality of a product (that still needs to comply with regulatory requirements), and catalyst deactivation should be tested based on the added bio-oil physical properties. From a financial view, the added cost of making transportation fuels with renewable content should be examined based on yield differences (after and before co-processing), bio-oil and petroleum feedstock cost difference, upgrading cost, and other utility costs. Another important consideration is the renewable content of the final products. This parameter should be calculated to determine what mixing ratio satisfies the mandated amount of renewable content. Finally, the co-processing option should be examined in a general refinery operation context and changes to process flow should be considered.

2.4.1. Physical properties of produced oil

Biomass-derived oils may have very different physical properties depending on the feedstock source, production and upgrading processes, and storage conditions. These properties that are different from petroleum feedstocks are summarized in Table 2.3. One of the most important parameters is the number of oxygenated components in the biomass-derived oils. Petroleum feedstocks normally do not have oxygen components. Biomass-derived oils, on the other hand, are normally a complex mixture of oxygenated components. This oxygenrich composition leads to the lower heating value, immiscibility with hydrocarbon fuels, and high viscosity and corrosiveness [26].
Another difference between biomass and petroleum-derived feedstocks is the amount of nitrogen and sulphur. Fuel standards mandate very low sulphur content on the final products and both nitrogen and sulphur are considered a catalyst poison on downstream processing units. As can be seen in Table 2.3, biomass-derived oils normally have less nitrogen and sulphur based on biomass and crude oil sources. Therefore the bio-oil will not increase the sulphur level of the final product and can be used to control the sulphur content with appropriate blending [72].

Depending on the processing technology, biomass-derived oils have a water content in the 1.7-25 wt.% range [25, 42, 73, 74]. This is much higher than crude oil's water content and is one of the main reasons for the low heating value of biomass-based oils. Another parameter of concern is the amount of hydrogen and its ratio to the carbon. The effective H/C ratio is a parameter that is normally used to estimate the amount of upgrading (deoxygenation) needed. The lower this parameter, the more severe the upgrading [42].

Coking tendency is the parameter that any refinery operators will be interested in examining before blending bio-oil with their feedstock. Coking tendency can be measured by the standard micro carbon residue test (MCRT) to measure carbonaceous residue formed after evaporation. For example, the MCRT of normal FCC feed is less than 0.5 wt.% [25], while biomass-derived oils have a very wide range.

Despite the different physical properties of different bio-oils, some properties are considered problematic in almost all refinery units and need to be addressed before any co-processing operation. To avoid the negative effect of introducing new feedstock in a refinery, parameters such as acidity, density (API gravity), and thermal stability should be examined and improved if needed [73].

Property	Units	HTL	Catalytic	Intermediate	Fast	HDO	Crude oil	Heavy fuel oil	VGO
			pyrolysis oli	pyrorysis on	pyrolysis oli	pyrolysis oli			
Feedstock		Hardwood	Pine	Digestate	Forest residue				
Water	wt.%	3.65	5	1.7	25	2.1	< 0.1	0.1	
Solids	wt.%				0.04				
Nitrogen	wt.%		0.2	2.2	0.2		< 1	0.3	0.07
Sulphur	wt.%	BDL	BDL	0.6	0.01		< 4		2
Carbon	wt.%	83.9	74	76.6	40.7	73.3	83-86	85	85
Oxygen	wt.%	5.3	19	11.2	45-50	16.9	< 1	1	
Hydrogen	wt.%	10.4	6	7.7	8.04	9.8	11 - 14	11	12
ASH		0.069		< 0.05					
Kinematic viscosity	cSt	11.97	30	40	16				
Dynamic viscosity	cP		33.2				180	180	
Density	kg/l	0.97	1.1	1.063	1.196	0.93[75]	0.86-0.92	0.94	0.89
HHV	MJ/kg	40		33.9	16.8	35.1	44	40	
pН			3.71		2.6				
MCRT or carbon	wt.%	3.37				2.2			
residue									
API		14.21	-2.9	1.51	-131	20.51	22-32	19	27
TAN	(mg KOH /gr)	36.8		4.9	70 [5] - 100				
					[72]				
Main reference		[42]	[73]	[74]	[25]	[25]	[47]	[9]	[31]

Table 2.3 Physical properties of different biomass-derived oils and petroleum feedstocks for comparison

2.4.1.1. Acidity

Bio-oil's acidity presents one of the biggest challenges in co-processing. Pyrolysis oil has a pH range of 2-3 and a TAN of 100-200 [40]. Given that crude oils with a TAN higher than 0.5 are normally considered acidic in the oil industry [73], pyrolysis bio-oil cannot be mixed directly with petroleum feedstocks. Although bio-oil will have different TANs based on the production process, all biomass-derived oils have high acid numbers, mainly because of the oxygenated components. This issue can be addressed either through upgrading or using appropriate construction material to minimize corrosion in the equipment. As co-processing is normally considered for low mixing ratios (5-15 wt.%), the dilution benefit with petroleum streams should also be considered [73].

2.4.1.2. Density

Density (or API gravity) is one of the metrics used by a refinery operation in qualifying and pricing different crude oils. Petroleum crude oils have an API in range of 19-50, and higher API crudes are considered to be light and to have more value [73]. Most of the biomass-derived oils have an API lower than 10 (and even negative) and therefore the petroleum industry considers them extra heavy for fast, intermediate, and catalytic pyrolysis oil and heavy for hydrothermal liquefaction and hydrodeoxygenated (upgraded) oils. These low API values will affect pricing and valuation of biomass-derived oils by the industry as it sees this kind of oil as difficult and more energy-intensive to refine.

2.4.1.3. Stability

Due to the short residence time in the pyrolysis reactor, neither the produced vapour nor the resulting bio-oil, from the rapid quenching of the vapour, is in thermodynamic equilibrium [9, 72].

As bio-oil is a mixture of many oxygenated components, during storage its composition changes toward the equilibrium, and this results in molecular weight and viscosity changes in the oil [72]. This thermal and storage instability is an indicator of oil behaviour during refining operations. It usually polymerizes during distillation, which could result in the formation of solid residue. Also, in the FCC operation, normal FCC feedstock (e.g., VGO) is preheated to around 229 °C before entering the riser [73]; this limits the direct injection of bio-oil due to thermal instability. To address these issues, further upgrading of the bio-oil and optimization of the pyrolysis reactor and/or modification of the FCC (or other refinery unit operations) have been suggested [5, 76, 77]. For example, in the fast or catalytic pyrolysis reactor, short residence time is required to avoid secondary reactions (e.g., condensation, oligomerization, and polymerization) of the produced volatile components. By optimizing the residence time, it is possible to balance the time required to complete desired reactions and avoid unwanted secondary reactions and therefore produce more stable bio-oil [76]. On the refinery operation side, it is possible to consider different operation strategies, as suggested by Pinho et al. [5, 77], such as using different injection points for the biooil and VGO in the FCC reactor (riser). This will lead to one more flexibility in operation and each feedstock can have different preheating temperatures.

2.4.2. Potential co-processing routes

2.4.2.1. Co-processing of hydrodeoxygenated pyrolysis oil in an FCC unit

This co-processing route is the path that most studies currently focus on and appears to be the most promising method to produce fuels with renewable content. In this method, fast pyrolysis oil goes through hydrodeoxygenation upgrading to decrease oxygen content and increase its processability in an FCC reactor. The resulting HDO is then mixed with vacuum gas oil at 10-20 wt.% at the FCC reactor inlet. The parameters that need to be adjusted include mixing percentage, FCC reactor operating conditions (including riser outlet temperature, catalyst-to-oil ratio, etc.), and the FCC reactor catalyst.

2.4.2.1.1. *Effects on product distribution, quality, and overall conversions*

One of the most important parameters is the effect of co-processing HDO with normal FCC feedstocks. Fogassy et al. mixed 20% hydrodeoxygenated pyrolysis oil (hydrogenated at 290 bar and 330 °C) with vacuum gas oil and processed the mixture in a fixed bed reactor [26]. The experiment was done in 3 different catalyst-to-oil (cat/oil) ratios (2.9, 4.5, and 5.9, corresponding to weight hourly space velocities (WHSV) of 20 h^{-1} , 13 h^{-1} , and 10 h^{-1}) [26]. The authors found negligible catalyst deactivation because of the co-processing and almost the same total conversion, especially for a high catalyst/oil ratio. The overall conversion increases with a catalyst/oil increase for pure VGO and co-processing. The co-processing yields a higher conversion than just VGO cracking, but the difference decreases with a catalyst/oil increase. The higher conversion of co-processing can be justified by the fact that HDO already contains components in the product range [26].

In an another study, Mercader et al. upgraded the bio-oil from woodchips in a one-step HDO process [25]. The final temperature of the HDO was varied from 230-340 °C to find the optimum temperature. The resulting HDO oils were co-processed with VGO. Although it was a one-step upgrading process, because the authors observed a strong hydrogen consumption between 150 and 200 °C, it can be concluded that an integrated stabilization process was occurring too. In the experiment on the effect of the HDO operating temperature, the authors found that hydrogen

consumption increased from 232 to 326 NL H2/kg of feed. On the other hand, if hydrogen consumption is expressed in NL/HHV product oil, it remains constant around 22 NL/MJ even with final reaction temperature increases from 230 to 340 °C.

The authors did not observe a big difference in product yield distribution at fixed (60 wt. %) conversion among HDO oils at different temperatures despite an oxygen content in the oils of 16.9 to 28.0 wt. %. This finding suggests that much less severe HDO conditions, just as much as needed to reduce the highly reactive functional groups, might be enough. On the other hand, HDO processing at lower temperatures leads to less carbon recovery (from the original biomass) in the oil phase and therefore less carbon efficiency. It was observed that co-processing 20 wt.% HDO oil leads to an average 20% higher cat/oil ratio (to have the same overall conversion) compared to pure VGO processing. The effect of this higher cat/oil ratio on FCC plant operation was not considered in this work and needs to be investigated. Optimizing HDO reaction operating conditions, therefore, is required to achieve the lowest hydrogen consumption, lowest FCC reactor operating cost, and highest renewable content in the final products [25].

2.4.2.1.2. Coke and light gas formation

To introduce new feedstocks to an FCC plant, it is important to consider coke and light gas formation tendencies. Coke formation leads to many operational problems and decreases the catalyst lifetime. Light gas formation reduces overall conversion as the carbon goes to low-value light gases instead of being transferred to the final product. Fogassy et al. observed much higher coke formation tendency and dry gas production for co-processing [26]. The higher production of light gas may be due to the thermal cracking of HDO, which forms more methane and ethane, as well as CO₂ formation through the deoxygenation reactions.

2.4.2.2. Co-processing raw fast pyrolysis oil in an FCC plant

As discussed earlier, the co-processing of mildly hydrotreated bio-oil in an FCC unit has been proven to be technically feasible. The disadvantage of this method is the added cost of the hydrotreatment operation and relatively high hydrogen demand [25, 68, 69]. Some researchers have tried to test the possibility of processing raw bio-oil in the FCC reactor. Pinho et al. co-processed bio-oil from pine woodchip fast pyrolysis with VGO at 5/95 and 10/90 ratios and tested it on a demonstration-scale (200 kg/hr) FCC unit [77]. The authors found this to be a technically feasible process that produces a product in the gasoline and diesel range. They observed a drop in dry gas (C1, C2, and hydrogen) and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) yields and increases in C3 and C4 olefinicity. The gasoline yields were nearly identical, and the highest yield occurred at the same conversion rate (68-69%) for all feedstocks. They also observed similar LCO yields for pure VGO and 5% co-processing but a slightly lower yield for a 10/90 ratio co-processing. Coke formation was the same for pure VGO and 10% bio-oil, but it was lower in the 5% bio-oil case. These findings are contrary to the results of other research, which found that co-processing raw bio-oil leads to excessive dry gas and coke formation as well as lower quantity and quality fuels.

Pinho et al. attributed this difference in results to the difference in the lab-scale and pilot plant units [77]. In almost all other experiments, researchers have used small-scale reactors with a single feed line. Bio-oil is thermally unstable and will be polymerized and plug the feedline if heated above 50 °C. This forces the VGO and bio-oil to be mixed and fed to the reactor at around 50 °C [77]. VGO is a heavy fossil feed that is normally heated to 180-320 °C to reduce its viscosity and vaporize heavy components to get a good dispersion. Injecting bio-oil and VGO from different feed nozzles helps to optimize both temperatures independently and form the least amount of coke [77]. Another difference in industrial (or pilot plant) operations with lab-scale equipment is the temperature profile difference between the riser and reactor tube. In pilot plant operations, a hot catalyst returns from the regenerator at a very high temperature (around 700 °C). This hot catalyst contacts liquid bio-oil (a very small amount) at the bottom of the riser, causing a thermal shock and vaporizing and breaking the heavy components. This temperature is much higher than the riser outlet temperature (ROT) (around 540 °C), at which most lab-scale reactors have been set to operate isothermally [77].

Another parameter that can explain the differences between results is the local catalyst-to-oil ratio. Pinho et al., in their study, injected bio-oil first and from a separate feed nozzle; this small portion of the total feed (5% or 10%) came in contact with the whole catalyst, causing a very high local catalyst/oil ratio, as much as 10 times higher than the average value [77]. This high volume of catalyst (at high temperature) helped bio-oil break into smaller molecules thermally and catalytically. By using ¹⁴C isotopic analysis, Pinho et al. found a 1% renewable source of carbon in the final products (for a 5% co-processing ratio) [77]. This value is in good agreement with another study by the same authors, which found 2 wt.% and 5 wt.% of the renewable content for 10 wt.% and 20 wt.% co-processing, respectively [5]. It should be mentioned that the accuracy of the ¹⁴C method for co-processing below 10% was recently challenged as it did not account for the carbon (with a fossil source) that goes to the fuels in co-processing and would have gone to the dry gas for VGO (alone) processing [78]. When we consider this factor, the produced fuels can get a credit for mixing biofuels at around 2.5% instead of 1% for 5% co-processing, and the Cefficiency (the percentage of carbon that goes to the fuel) for bio-oil increases to 76% from the 32% calculated using the ¹⁴C method.

2.4.2.3. Co-processing opportunity for catalytic pyrolysis oil

Catalytic pyrolysis oil (CPO) seems a better candidate than fast pyrolysis bio-oil for co-processing with petroleum feedstocks in refinery plants as it produces higher quality oil. The research on catalytic pyrolysis mainly compares CPO and hydrodeoxygenated fast pyrolysis oil co-processing in FCC in terms of the quality and quantity of produced transportation fuels and the effect of feedstock on final oil physical properties.

Lappas et al. used the FCC catalyst for the catalytic pyrolysis of forestry residue biomass (beechwood) at 450 °C and 500 °C and compared the results with a no catalyst case (silica sand was used as the heat carrier) and kept the other parameters fixed [79]. They found that catalytic pyrolysis yields less oil with better quality than fast pyrolysis. CPO has lower oxygenated components, density, viscosity, and Conradson carbon residue. This process also produces an oil with higher water content and therefore a much lower HHV. The authors concluded that although this process has great potential, the FCC catalyst is very active and not suitable for catalytic pyrolysis; research to find a suitable catalyst is needed.

In another study, Thegarid et al. compared the co-processing of HDO or CPO with VGO (in a 10% / 90% ratio) in an FCC unit simulated by a MAT reactor [31]. The authors concluded that CPO, unlike fast pyrolysis oil, does not need prior upgrading to be co-processed with VGO if the ratio remains below 20%. They also estimated the overall carbon efficiency to be around 30 wt. % for the catalytic pyrolysis compared to 24 wt. % for combined pyrolysis and hydrodeoxygenation steps.

2.4.2.4. Co-processing opportunity for hydrothermal liquefaction bio-crude

The hydrothermal liquefaction process, as mentioned in the above sections, can handle high moisture feedstock and works at near-critical water conditions that produce more stable bio-oils in a cost-effective way [7, 62]. The bio-oil produced by HTL for co-processing with fossil fuels should, therefore, be explored. Studies in this area are oriented towards HTL bio-crude characterization and assay analysis in a format like conventional petroleum crude oil and comparison between different crudes for increased adaptation at existing refineries. Fractional distillation of HTL bio-crude using a 15:5 theoretical plate column was done following the ASTM D1160 method to evaluate the bulk properties as well as to understand the physical and chemical properties of each fraction, which will help design the co-processing model according to the quality of every fraction [42]. Studies have found the presence of oxygenates in every fraction of HTL bio-crude in the form of phenols, cyclic ketones, esters, and ethers, which ensures a lower hydrogen requirement through hydrotreating. Jensen et al. hydrotreated the bio-crude with a nickel molybdenum catalyst supported on aluminum oxide and evaluated the process with respect to temperature in the range of 150 °C and 350 °C and pressure between 55 and 140 bar [18]. The effect of temperature on the conversion process was concluded to have a more pronounced effect than pressure.

2.5. Research gaps

Second-generation biofuels can be produced from different production and upgrading methods, each of which offers different quantities and qualities of products. To compare second-generation biofuel production via co-processing with first generation biofuels (drop-in biofuels from corn), a complete life cycle assessment of these processes in terms of total GHG emissions and added cost for the refinery should be developed. Further details and literature review on cost assessment is given in Chapter 3. Also, as was mentioned, the catalytic pyrolysis offers a good quality product that can potentially be mixed directly with petroleum feedstock without upgrading. This operation will reduce the bio-oil price substantially, but it will require specific catalyst development for biomass pyrolysis. In analyzing a co-processing operation, it is essential to consider all the effects of co-processing for a refinery operation in terms of product quality and quantity, bio-carbon content of final transportation fuels, and refinery economics.

Chapter 3: Assessment of co-processing of hydrodeoxygenated fast pyrolysis oil and vacuum gas oil in an FCC unit

3.1.Introduction

The greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions effects of fossil fuels have driven the move to renewable energy use. Moreover, governments around the world have mandated a minimum amount of renewable content in transportation fuels. This led to the production of first generation of a biofuel mainly from corn or other food grains such as wheat, barley and rapeseed. Because these are used for food purposes, using these as feedstocks for production of biofuel result in increase food price [2-7]. As Path D in Figure 3.1 shows, first-generation biofuel is produced and processed separately from the fossil fuel and blended at the end to the conventional transportation fuel as a drop-in fuel to meet government mandates. However, second-generation biofuel, bio-oil is produced from non-food-based biomass and with some intermediate upgrading is mixed with petroleum refinery feedstock as shown in Paths A, B, and C (Figure 3.1). The advantage to this approach of adding bio-content to a transportation fuel is that it uses existing infrastructure (vs. building a separate biorefinery) and lignocellulosic biomass. In this study, the effects of processing bio-oil/biocrude with petroleum intermediates in the refinery fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) unit were examined through development of process models.



Figure 3.1: First- and second-generation biofuels with petroleum feedstocks

The FCC units have some operational limitations that should be addressed before changes in feedstock are introduced. The most important limitation is catalyst sensitivity and deactivation. FCC catalysts are sensitive to certain atoms in the feedstock and can be poisoned in less than a second [32, 80]. Other limitation is related to the riser and regenerator temperatures. Higher temperatures normally yield higher conversion, but there is a limitation based on riser and regenerator construction materials [81, 82]. The pressure difference between the riser and the regenerator is another key parameter of the FCC unit operation. This difference in pressure dictates the catalyst circulation rate between the riser and the regenerator and is an important factor in overall unit operation. These mechanical limitations should be considered before making any changes in the FCC unit operation.

The approach to determine the most suitable lignocellulosic biomass feedstock for the coprocessing operation is explained in section 3.2, and the physical properties of different biooils/bio-crudes are compared. Because of the flexibility of the FCC unit, this unit is selected as the point of blending for co-processing. The physical properties of hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil (HDO) is examined in section 3.2.1. The FCC unit operation is also explained. The simulation model for FCC was developed and used in this research. This has been described in sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3. The economic analysis and advantages of the co-processing operation are described in section 3.2.4. The main goal of co-processing is to add bio-content to conventional transportation fuels. In section 3.2.5, two different approaches are described to calculate the bio-content of final products. The results of this research are summarized in sections 3.3 and 3.4. These sections discuss the overall yield and operation of the FCC unit with respect to co-processing, bio-content of the final product, and economic effects, along with the comparison between drop-in and co-processing pathways.

3.2. Methods

In selecting the best route to integrate biofuels into an existing refinery, decisions should be made on biomass feedstock source, bio-oil production process, bio-oil upgrading processes and mixing point in the refinery. These factors affect the quality and quantity of bio-oil and refinery operations. Figure 2.1 shows different potential paths for co-processing operations.

Once the lignocellulosic biomass feedstock (e.g., agricultural and forestry residues) has been selected, a process to produce liquid fuel from the feedstock needs to be chosen. The level of upgrading required is directly related to the physical properties of the produced bio-oil (i.e., production method) and the requirements of the selected mixing point in the refinery for co-processing. Earlier studies mainly show that direct integration of raw bio-oil into the refinery will cause operational challenges such as polymerization, excessive coke formation, feed line plugging,

rapid catalyst deactivation, etc. [26-31]. Because of the physical properties of hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil, it was selected as the biomass-based oil for this research.

The mixing refinery intermediate (or feedstock) and the mixing point in the refinery have a big impact on the refinery's ability to process a new feedstock. Because of the FCC unit's flexibility in handling feedstock and product demand, this unit is considered the main refinery operation for co-processing and has been analyzed by many research groups [5, 15, 16, 26, 28, 31, 47, 79, 83-85]. A steady-state Aspen HYSYS[®] simulation model was developed to assess the effects of adding HDO to an FCC unit operation and to analyze the impact from the refinery point of view. This study includes a refinery economic analysis and regulatory compliance review for the minimum bio-content of gasoline and diesel.

3.2.1. Physical properties of HDO

Given the complexity of refinery unit operations and their sensitivities to new feedstock, and operating conditions in general, the physical properties of any new feedstock should be carefully analyzed before any attempt is made to introduce it to the refinery. The hydrodeoxygenation of pyrolysis oil is considered as one of the promising upgrading methods for making bio-oil compatible with refinery operations [26]. Figure 3.2 compares the assay results of HDO with other main types of oil. The HDO assay characteristics are comparable to the vacuum gas oil's (VGO) assay in terms of product yield. The HDO assay contains slightly more products in the gasoline (naphtha) and off-gas range than VGO and fewer in the diesel ranges. These product distributions and yields will change as the HDO (or VGO) go through catalytic cracking in the FCC reactor. As shown in Table 3.1, HDO has less sulphur and nitrogen than VGO, and this may lead to better quality final products and increase catalyst life in downstream operations.



1. Simulated using Aspen HYSYS®. Source data adapted from Fogassy et al. [26]

2. Simulated using Aspen HYSYS® database[86].

Figure 3.2: Assay characteristics of HDO and some petroleum feedstocks

Properties	HDO	VGO
Density (g/cm ³)	0.93	0.89
Sulphur (wt.%)	0	2.02
Nitrogen (wt.%)	0	0.07
Hydrogen (wt.%)	10	12.4
Carbon (wt.%)	69	85.4
Oxygen (wt.%)	21	0
Conradson C (wt.%)	0	0.26
Higher heating value (MJ/kg)	42.3-45.3	42

Table 3.1. Properties of HDO and VGO [26, 87, 88]

3.2.2. FCC unit description

3.2.2.1. Riser-regenerator configuration

The FCC is the heart of the petroleum refinery. It uses a catalyst to break heavier components into gasoline and diesel range fuels in a fluidized bed reactor. Breaking heavier molecules leaves coke deposits on the catalyst surface and deactivates the catalyst in few seconds. For this reason, continuous catalyst regeneration is required to burn the coke from the catalyst and reactivate it. The activated catalyst is re-injected into the reactor (riser) and the cycle continues. Burning the coke from the catalyst surface provides the energy required to break the high molecular weight molecules and produces a great amount of CO_2 at the same time. FCC units are the biggest emitter of CO_2 of all refinery operations and the main contributor to the refinery gasoline pool [89]. Figure 3.3 is a schematic diagram of an FCC reactor.



Figure 3.3: Fluidized catalytic cracker (FCC) unit schematic operation [90]

3.2.2.2. Downstream distillation

In the FCC reactor operation, a cyclone separates the riser effluent hot gas mixture from the deactivated catalyst. The effluent gas stream contains all the reaction products and goes directly to the main distillation column for the preliminary separation. Figure 3.4 (and Figure A.1) shows the overall configuration of a typical FCC unit's downstream fractionation used in this research for process simulation development. The main distillation column separates the feed stream (FCC effluent) into the bottom slurry and the top light gas products that contain most of the gasoline-and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)-range products. Another side stream from the column gives the diesel range product as light cycle oil (LCO). The column overhead vapour goes to the wet

gas compressor for two-stage compression and then to a flash drum for maximum recovery of the heavy components. The gas stream leaving the compressor contains all the LPG, gasoline, and light gas (off-gas) components in the FCC effluent, which should be separate from each other. This stream enters a cooler and then a flash drum (V-101) for the final separation of light gases and a liquid stream. The liquid stream enters the reboiled stripper (T302) for the final removal of any trace amounts of H₂S. This is an important step as all the remaining H₂S will go to the LPG product and can make the product quality out of acceptable range. The bottom product of the stripper enters the gasoline stabilizer for the separation of LPG from gasoline. This column controls the amount of C4 components in the gasoline (one of the metrics for gasoline quality) through Reid vapour pressure (RVP) specification and controls LPG quality with a controller on the maximum allowable C5+ concentration [91].

The vapour stream from the stripper flash drum (V-101) contains light gases produced in the FCC riser plus some C5-range components that should be separated for maximum recovery. To accomplish this, this stream is sent through the secondary absorber where it releases trapped C5 components while absorbing all the trace amounts of light components from the liquid stream of the compressor interstage flash drum. The resulting gas stream, which is mainly H₂, methane, and ethane, goes to the primary absorber for the final removal of any heavier components using LCO drawn from the main distillation column [91].

3.2.3. Simulation model description

Refinery product yield and quality as well as economics should be analyzed for normal and coprocessing operations for a good understanding of the potential advantages of co-processing. A simulation model is the best tool for this analysis, and it also provides insight into the refinery operation. In this research, Aspen HYSYS[®] software [86] was used to develop a simulation model of the refinery FCC plant. The model includes the FCC reactor, main distillation column, overhead wet gas compression system for maximum diesel and LPG recovery, primary and secondary absorber, and gasoline stabilizer (debutanizer) columns. The main data used for this sample FCC unit is from typical FCC plant simulation examples from Aspen HYSYS[®] and a typical refinery (UOP design) with a capacity of 800,000 tonnes per year, is taken from chapter 4 of Chang et. al [91].



Figure 3.4: Overall snapshot of the process simulation model for HDO co-processing

In this FCC simulation model, a hot catalyst from the regenerator enters the bottom of the riser alongside VGO feedstock and HDO. The hot catalyst will vaporize the feed for the reactions to start on the catalyst surface. Riser effluent stream directly goes to the main distillation column, where heavier components and diesel are separated from the bottom and side streams, respectively. The column has 5 pump-arounds to control the column temperature profile and enhance product separation. To compare overall unit operations during normal and co-processing operations, all the pump-around parameters are kept constant between the two modes of operation.

The main parameters used in this simulation model are summarized in Table 3.2. To compare the results of normal operation with co-processing, the aim was to keep the same product quality value by changing plant operating conditions. To accomplish this, the model operating parameters were tuned (by changing utility demand) to meet plant specifications.

Property	Unit	Value	Unit operation
Condenser temperature	°C	41	Main distillation column
Stage 17 (below feed stage) temperature	°C	345	Main distillation column
Reflux ratio		0.5	Main distillation column
Diesel 90% cut point (ASTM D-86)	°C	355	Main distillation column
Riser temperature	°C	518	FCC reactor
Riser pressure	Bar-g	2.4	FCC reactor
Inter-stage cooler temperature	°C	35	Wet gas compressor
Gasoline RVP	kPa	54.5	Stabilizer column

 Table 3.2. Main parameters use in FCC unit modelling

Property	Unit	Value	Unit operation
Max H ₂ S content	Mole %	0.005	Stripper
LPG max C5+	mole%	5	Stabilizer column

3.2.4. Simulation model validation

In this research, a typical FCC unit with a complete downstream fractionation unit was simulated using Aspen HYSYS[®] . A typical FCC unit configuration from a UOP design for a refinery was used as the reference plant for the model development [91]. Following an initial model run, the FCC reactor was calibrated using the Aspen FCC reactor calibration tool with the reference plant product's distribution details. Figure 3.5 shows the results of the simulation after the calibration. It can be seen that the model makes a good prediction of the product's distribution for LPG and naphtha. The slightly higher difference in product distribution for LCO and bottom products, lower yield prediction for LCO and higher for bottoms, is due to the differences in the defined range between the simulation model and plant data for those two products. In the current research, the main focus is to understand the relative difference in the FCC unit product's yields for normal operation (VGO processing) and co-processing operation (10 wt.% HDO with VGO) and not the product's absolute rate. Considering this target, the results obtained from the model calibration, using typical plant data, are considered accurate for this research. Further tuning of the model will need specific plant data for model development and tuning and therefore will help to understand the operation of that specific plant in the co-processing operation.



Figure 3.5: FCC reactor product distribution comparison

To examine the simulation model in the co-processing operation, the model trend was verified in relation to available experimental data from Fogassy et al. [26]. There is very limited publicly available data for co-processing HDO in a pilot plant or at industrial scale for calibration of the model. Also, Pinho et al. suggested that heavy feed and coke will behave and form differently in laboratory-scale batch operation apparatuses than in an industrial-scale FCC unit operation [5, 77]. There are fundamental differences in the operation of fixed bed apparatus and pilot-plant fluidized bed operations in temperature and residence (contact) time control. The Aspen HYSYS[®] FCC reactor model uses steady state modelling equations to develop a rigorous simulation of an industrial FCC unit. As a result the laboratory-scale data could not be used for the calibration of the model in co-processing operations. In the current research, the simulation model was calibrated using typical industrial plant data and then the model was used to examine the trends in co-processing. Figure 3.6 shows the comparison of results between experimental data and

simulations for VGO cracking and 20 wt.% HDO co-processing with VGO. The conversion is defined as the sum of the yields of dry gas, LPG, gasoline, and coke. The simulation model was run at three different total inlet flow rates, and the conversion and products' yields were calculated for each flow rate. The yields were plotted against the total conversion and presented in Figure 3.6, to compare the simulation and experimental (lab-scale) results. The simulation model predicts the products' yields with operating conditions changing in the same way as the experimental data, and the absolute yield values are in the acceptable range.



Figure 3.6: Comparison of FCC reactor products' yields at different conversion rates Experimental VGO cracking (\bigstar), experimental HDO/VGO co-processing (\bigcirc), simulation output of VGO cracking (\bigstar), and simulation output of HDO/VGO co-processing (\bigcirc)

3.2.5. Description of the economic assessment

The focus of the economic assessment is to understand how co-processing bio-oil in the FCC unit affects final product cost. Hence incremental costs for the refinery related to co-processing

operation are considered. Figure 3.7 shows the methodology and parameters considered in this assessment. It was assumed that co-processing will not require any capital investment. This assumption is valid if the bio-oil does not require upgrading. Thus, a hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil was considered as the feedstock. This will increase feedstock cost and therefore the overall added co-processing cost in the current study. If the FCC reactor can process raw bio-oil, as suggested by Pinho et al. [5, 77, 92], this can reduce the feedstock cost substantially with a small amount of capital investment to modify the FCC riser arrangements.

Also, because this study is a general overview of the FCC unit operation, it was assumed that the new bio-based feedstock will replace the petroleum-based feed by a pre-determined percentage (e.g., 10% wt.). Based on HDO assay analysis and FCC unit simulation results, it is known that the FCC units will have some extra capacity if they take HDO oil because of its assay characteristics. This means refinery operations can add some bio-oil without reducing the amount of petroleum-based feedstock. This extra capacity, which will increase gasoline and diesel production, has an important role in economic assessment of the refinery. In the current work, this approach was not chosen as it requires a detailed capacity analysis of a specific FCC plant. The main cost factor is the cost of the feedstocks (bio-oil and VGO) and the most important revenue for the refinery operation is from gasoline, diesel, and liquified petroleum gas (LPG). Since the amount of transportation fuel produced by the FCC unit can differ because of coprocessing, the cost-effectiveness of co-processing should be included in any financial analysis. As mentioned above, the idea of a co-processing operation is to take advantage of existing infrastructure and thereby avoiding the capital cost of building new refinery units. It should also be mentioned that refineries may benefit from taking raw bio-oil (i.e., without any upgrading) and saving substantially on feedstock cost. This will need some modification to the FCC reactor riser, which has some capital cost factors. Pinho et al. found this co-processing method technically feasible [5, 77], but further research on a pilot plant-scale is required.



Figure 3.7: Economic analysis model main parameters

As a result of co-processing, the FCC plant's utility demand changes, which in turn changes the refinery's operating costs. In this study, steam and electricity consumption were monitored during and after co-processing, and the associated cost was considered in the economic assessment model. Also, because HDO has a different assay than the original VGO feedstock, the amount of coke formed on the catalyst surface is different and hence the fresh catalyst the FCC reactor needs change. Therefore, the cost of providing a fresh catalyst for the refinery is accounted for in the model.

Another important impact of the changes in riser coke formation is the amount of CO_2 produced from coke burning on the catalyst surface. The FCC regenerator is the biggest CO_2 producer in the refinery operation and any changes in its operation has a big impact on the plant's overall GHG emissions. Because of the penalties (or caps) currently mandated in most jurisdictions, this cost factor was considered in the model.

The unit production also affect the economic assessment and was therefore considered as the revenue source for the FCC plant in this cost model. Other than gasoline, diesel, and LPG (propane and butane), FCC produces some off-gas and slurry. Off-gas is mainly used as fuel in a refinery, so it was considered a utility for other refinery units. The slurry stream from the main distillation column bottom was modelled as the low-quality burning oil in this model. Equation 1 was used and the parameters are summarized in Table 3.3 to calculate the added cost for the refinery unit.

FCC unit added cost =
$$(F_i \times C_i - F_j \times C_j)_{co-processing} - (F_i \times C_i - F_j \times C_j)_{Base \ case}$$
 (1)

- F: Stream flowrate (unit mass/hr)
- C: Material cost (price) (USD/unit mass)
- i, j: stream index

i= VGO, Bio-oil, riser process steam, fresh catalyst, regenerator emitted CO₂, distillation process steam

j= Dry gas, LPG, gasoline, diesel, slurry

Cost parameter	Unit	Cost (USD)	Source
VGO	USD/litre	0.4	[93]
Bio-oil	USD/litre	0.72	[94]
LPG	CAD/litre	0.735	[95]
Gasoline	CAD/litre	0.7753	[95]
Diesel	CAD/litre	0.855	[95]
Slurry	CAD/litre	0.7875	[95]
steam	USD/tonne	8.7	[81]
Catalyst	USD/tonne	3750	[81]
CO ₂ penalty (tax)	CAD/tonne	30	[96]
Electricity	USD/MW.hr	40	[94]
Exchange rate	USD/CAD	1.2957	[97]

Table 3.3. Cost analysis model inputs (2018 average)

3.2.6. Bio-carbon content analysis

The main purpose of the co-processing operation is to transfer the biomass-based carbon to transportation fuels. To assess the success of this operation and to demonstrate regulatory compliance, the bio-carbon content of the final gasoline and diesel should be measured. The ¹⁴C isotope method is a standard method for measuring the age of carbon atoms. Carbon with a fossil fuel origin ages millions of years while carbon from biomass-based feedstock ages 20-50 years. Therefore, these can easily be distinguished using the ¹⁴C experimental method.

Although the ¹⁴C method provides insight into the carbon source for transportation fuels, it does not consider any bio-carbon transferred to other products, coke, or regenerator CO₂. During the processing of VGO (or other fossil-based fuels), LPG, light gas, and cycle oil are produced alongside gasoline and diesel. Although there are no regulatory requirements for these byproducts in terms of bio-carbon content, transforming bio-carbon to them offsets their GHG emission impact. This should be considered (and credited to the co-processing operation) when analyzing co-processing. Another important factor is the CO₂ produced when the coke deposited on the regenerator is burned. The FCC regenerator is the biggest emitter of CO₂ in the refinery operation, and any changes in the quantity and source of this CO₂ emission should be captured. During coprocessing, some bio-carbon goes to coke (and regenerator CO₂ ultimately), which reduces the overall FCC unit GHG emission effect.

With these considerations the following equations were developed based on Talmadge et al.'s work to calculate the bio-carbon content of transportation fuels [78].

Bio oil % in gasoline =
$$\left(\frac{\text{overall gasoline yield} - VGO \text{ only processing gasoline yield}}{\text{overall gasoline yield}} \times 100\right)$$
 (2)

$$Gasoline \ yield = \frac{Total \ gasoline \ produced}{Total \ VGO \ inlet}$$
(3)

A critical assumption of this method is that during the co-processing operation, the bio-oil processing does not affect VGO processing, and the VGO part of the fuel (90% in most cases) has the same yield factor as in normal operations. Given the low percentage of the co-processing operation (5%-10%), this assumption is reasonable. To calculate the overall gasoline yield of the co-processing operation, the total gasoline produced was divided by the total VGO added to the

reactor; the bio-oil weight was not considered. This assumption can be justified by bio-oil carbon neutrality.

3.3. Results and discussion

3.3.1. The co-processing operation

The FCC unit operation was analyzed for both normal and co-processing operations. Vacuum gas oil is the main feedstock to the unit. The effects of replacing 10% of the feed with hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil on unit performance was studied.

Table 3.4 shows the main results for the products and feedstock for a 0% (normal operation) and a 10% co-processing operation. The results show that co-processing does not have a big impact on overall product flowrate. As a result of co-processing, the flowrate of the produced dry gas, slurry, and coke decreased by 9%, 6%, and 4%, respectively, and the gasoline flowrate increased by 4%. The small change in flowrate is mainly because HDO has similar assay characteristics to VGO, as can be seen from Figure 3.2. This is one of the reasons this bio-oil has been chosen by many research groups for the co-processing operation in the FCC reactor. Also, as mentioned in section 3.2.3, the simulation specifications were set to ensure that the minimum required qualities for gasoline, diesel, and LPG are always achieved. This will make the two operations comparable.

Properties	Base case	10% HDO	
Bio-oil (HDO oil)	0	10.8	
VGO flowrate	108.2	97.4	
Total input flow	108.2	108.2	
Dry gas	4.3	3.9	
LPG	21.8	20.9	
Gasoline	36.1	37.6	
Diesel	34.9	35.2	
Slurry	4.7	4.4	
Coke	7.5	7.2	

Table 3.4. Overall FCC unit product yield (tonne/hr) from the developed simulation model

To make sure that the FCC unit can operate in the co-processing operation with new utility demands and new operating conditions, the important parameters of the FCC unit were monitored for VGO-only and co-processing operations and are presented in Table 3.5. The regenerator air flowrate was chosen to consider air compressor capacity limitations. The riser outlet temperature was set at a fixed temperature of 518 °C to consider all the metallurgical limitations of the reactor. Also, the catalyst circulation rate was compared in the co-processing and base case operations to make sure it does not cause more pressure drop between the riser and the regenerator; the reactor can circulate this amount of catalyst in new operating conditions. Because less coke is generated in the riser during co-processing, the air flowrate required to burn the coke from the catalyst surface in the regenerator is lower in co-processing than in the base case operation. Thus it was considered that the air compressor will be able to handle co-processing operations and therefore

no additional capital investment is needed for the new air compressor. The FCC unit demands for process steam (i.e., the steam added to the main distillation column) is another important parameter that was compared in the two modes of operation to account for the utility demand and to make sure the new mode of operation will not need any extra utility that may not be available at the refinery.

Property	Base case	10% HDO
Regenerator airflow	161.8	147.8
Catalyst circulation	1148	1122
Reg CO ₂ emission	25.2	24.2
Process steam	13.04	13.04
Electricity (MW)	7.32	6.7

Table 3.5. FCC unit performance before and after co-processing (tonne/hr)

The plant performance analysis in terms of utility (steam and electricity consumption) shows that the FCC units use almost the same amount of steam and that less electricity is consumed during co-processing than during normal operation, mainly due to the lower regenerator air flowrate. Since co-processing leads to less coke formation, burning the accumulated coke on the catalyst surface generates less CO_2 during co-processing. Considering the penalties (or the CO_2 emission cap) most jurisdictions apply for CO_2 production, this can be another advantage for the coprocessing operation.

3.3.2. Bio-carbon content analysis of the co-processing operation

Apart from the quality and quantity of transportation fuels produced via co-processing, bio-carbon content is another important parameter in co-processing. As explained in section 3.2.5, there are two methods of determining the value of this parameter. The ¹⁴C method is a completely experimental method. Other studies on co-processing 10-20% HDO found 2-5% bio-C content on the final gasoline [5, 77].

The mass balance method for the calculation of the total bio-carbon content of transportation fuels has received some attention [78]. The ¹⁴C method does not account for the fossil-based carbon that would have gone directly to the atmosphere as a result of coke or dry gas formation but is captured in transportation fuels. This a direct result of co-processing, as some bio-carbon replaces fossil-based carbon in coke or dry gas. This disadvantage of ¹⁴C contradicts the main idea of blending biofuel to lower overall refinery GHG emissions. Thus the mass balance method was used to analyze the overall effect of co-processing (through Equations 2 and 3).

The results of normal operations (base case) and co-processing based on the simulation model are summarized in Table 3.6. The mass balance method of calculating bio-carbon content and yield shows that gasoline and diesel yields increase by 18% and 12%, respectively, in co-processing compared to normal operations. The method also shows that co-processing has the potential for up to 11% bio-carbon content with 10% hydrodeoxygenation bio-oil.

Property	Unit	Base case	Co-processing
			(90% VGO, 10%
			HDO)
VGO flowrate	tonne/hr	108.2	97.4
Bio-oil flowrate	tonne/hr	0	10.8
Gasoline flowrate	tonne/hr	36.11	37.65
Diesel flowrate	tonne/hr	34.9	35.2
Gasoline yield		0.33	0.39
Diesel yield		0.32	0.36
Bio-C content in gasoline	wt.%	0	15 %
Bio-C content in diesel	wt.%	0	11 %

Table 3.6. Bio- C analysis for the base case and co-processing operations

3.3.3. Economic assessment

Adding a new feedstock to a refinery operation can change refinery economics. The added cost was assessed for an FCC unit to replace 10% of its normal feedstock (VGO) with hydrodeoxygenated bio-oil through the methods explained in section 3.2.4 and the parameters listed in Table 3.3.

Table 3.7 shows the results from this analysis. The overall cost of producing gasoline for the refinery was calculated using the parameters listed in Table 3.3. The FCC unit performance before and after co-processing obtained from Tables 3.4 and 3.5. During co-processing, the refinery (FCC unit) production cost to produce the same quantity of products will increase by 4,734
USD/hr for a refinery of size 80,000 bpd capacity. The added cost for gasoline and diesel production (with bio-content) will increase the final price of transportation fuels. Although all refinery products, including LPG and slurry, will have some bio-carbon content, there are no regulatory requirements for these products to have any bio-content. For this reason, the added cost was distributed between gasoline and diesel only, based on their regulatory requirement to have bio-content. Currently, refineries are required to mix bioethanol with gasoline and diesel at a yearly average amount of 5% and 2%, respectively. Since gasoline has a higher bio-content requirement, a higher percentage of the overall refinery processing cost increase was allocated to gasoline than to diesel, based on their bio-content regulatory requirements. Another approach would be to distribute the added cost based on total production volume, which would lead to different added costs for the gasoline and diesel, but the overall refinery-added cost per barrel of feed would be the same.

Cost parameter	Unit	value
Refinery added cost	USD/hr	4,734
Refinery added cost	USD/bbl.	13.45
Increased cost of Gasoline production	USD/litre	0.068
Increased cost of diesel production	USD/litre	0.027

Table 3.7. Main cost analysis results for co-processing 10% HDO (USD)

Figure 3.8 shows the results of sensitivity analysis for gasoline- and diesel-added costs by changing different parameters. The added costs for both gasoline and diesel are sensitive to the feedstock price. As Figure 3.8 shows, if HDO price decreases by 50%, through, technology

advancement, economies of the scale, or modification of the FCC unit to process raw bio-oil, there would not be any added cost for the refinery to process bio-oil and to get bio-content in transportation fuels (i.e., there will be a 100% reduction in added cost). A \pm 50% change in other parameters will change the refinery's added cost only by \pm 5%.



Figure 3.8: Added production cost sensitivity analysis for (a) gasoline (b) diesel

3.4. Comparison of cost of drop-in fuels and incremental cost of coprocessing

Currently, refineries and fuel distribution companies are mandated by the government to blend an average (yearly) 5% vol. bioethanol with gasoline and 2% vol. with diesel. Co-processing is an approach to meet these requirements. Currently, the price of ethanol (2018 average) is in the range of 1.51 \$/gallon (0.4 \$/litre) [98].

Equations 4 and 5 show that for every litre of gasoline a refinery sells, it needs to buy 0.0526 litres of ethanol. The costs for the refinery to buy ethanol are shown in Table 3.8.

$$\frac{Ethanol}{Ethanol+Gasoline} = 5\%$$
(4)

$$\frac{Ethanol}{Gasoline} = 5.26\%$$
⁽⁵⁾

Table 3.8. Drop-in bioethanol added cost for the refinery (2018 USD)

Cost parameter	Unit	Value
Added cost of gasoline production	USD/litre	0.02
Added cost of diesel production	USD/litre	0.008

Because of high demand and government incentives for bioethanol production, ethanol production capacity is increasing rapidly around the world. This capacity expansion has lowered the price in recent years. There are now concerns about this industry's sustainability and outlook due to limited capacity and demand increase as government mandates become stricter. In light of



these concerns, the US Annual Energy Outlook 2019 predicted an ethanol price increase from 1.5\$/gallon in 2018 to 5\$/gallon in 2050 [98].

Figure 3.9: Ethanol price outlook

In addition to ethanol production costs, producing ethanol as the first generation biofuel competes with the requirement of grains as food source. Co-processing can be an alternative approach to adding bio-content to transportation fuels.

3.5. Conclusion

In this study, the effects of replacing 10% of the FCC unit's petroleum-based feedstock (VGO) with biomass-based oil were studied from operational and economic points of view. Coprocessing has the advantage of using existing infrastructure and refinery units with very low need for capital investment while meeting mandated bio-carbon content on transportation fuels. Adding bio-content to final transportation fuels is technically feasible and, based on the calculations, up to 11% bio-content in final products can be expected. This will reduce GHG emissions in the transportation sector. The co-processing operation will increase refinery operating costs and may therefore increase fuel final price.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work

4.1. Conclusion

Processing biomass-based oil in conventional oil refineries is receiving special attention because it is carbon neutral, has flexible production and upgrading processes, and uses low-value feedstock that is widely available. In this study, a detailed process simulation model was developed using Aspen HYSYS[®] to examine the effects of replacing 10% of the FCC unit's feedstock with a biomass-based oil. The simulation model integrates the Aspen HYSYS® FCC unit model with a downstream product fractionation unit. The co-processing operation has the advantage of using existing infrastructure and refinery units with almost no need for capital investment while meeting government-mandated bio-carbon content on final transportation fuels. In addition, a cost model was developed to examine the effects of co-processing on the FCC unit's economics. Co-processing will change the refinery operating cost and therefore have some effects on the production cost of transportation fuels. The cost model considers the main factors in refinery operating costs, that is, the feedstock cost, product sale revenue, and catalyst and utility cost. The process simulation indicates that co-processing yields slightly more gasoline and diesel. Coke deposition on the catalyst surface was reduced and thus catalyst circulation rate fell by 2.3%. Also, reduced coke formation in the FCC riser produces less CO₂ in the regenerator and less air is required to burn this coke. Therefore, regenerator CO₂ emissions and regenerator compressor airflow rates decreased by 4% and 8.6%, respectively.

The final goal of the co-processing operation is to convert the biomass-based carbon to a transportation fuel. To determine whether this can be achieved, the bio-carbon content of the final gasoline and diesel was examined. The literature review showed that, depending on the co-processing percentage ratio, gasoline and diesel produced via co-processing have 1%-2% bio-carbon content when tested by the ¹⁴C method. On the other hand, the carbon mass balance shows that the rest of the bio-carbon was transferred to coke, CO₂, or other products. This analytical method proves that co-processing transfers some fossil-based carbons to transportation fuels rather than coke or CO₂. From the overall refinery CO₂ production perspective, this carbon can be credited to the co-processing operation. As Table 4.1. shows, it was observed that by co-processing, it is possible to get up to 15% and 11% bio-content in gasoline and diesel through the mass balance method calculation.

Property	Unit	Base case	Co-processing
			(90% VGO, 10%
			HDO)
Gasoline yield		0.33	0.39
Diesel yield		0.32	0.36
Bio-C content in gasoline	wt.%	0	15 %
Bio-C content in diesel	wt.%	0	11 %

Table 4.1. Bio- C analysis for the base case and co-processing operations

As Table 4.2. shows, from the refinery operating cost perspective, it was observed that replacing 10% of the VGO with HDO in the FCC reactor feedstock will change the refinery's economic balance. As a result of co-processing, gasoline and diesel production costs will increase by 6.8 ¢/litre and 2.7 ¢/litre, respectively, while producing almost the same amount of product. The added cost of the refinery, in general, is very sensitive to feedstock (VGO and HDO) price. For example, Figure 4.1. presents that a 50% reduction in HDO price will make the co-processing operation economically neutral without any added cost to the refinery.

 Table 4.2. Main cost analysis results for co-processing 10% HDO (USD)

Cost parameter	Unit	value
Increased cost of Gasoline production	USD/litre	0.068
Increased cost of diesel production	USD/litre	0.027



Figure 4.1: Added production cost sensitivity analysis for (a) gasoline (b) diesel

4.2. Recommendations for Future Work

Upgrading raw bio-oil to hydrodeoxygenated oil in refinery units can be the next step in integrating biomass-based oils into existing refinery units. This will reduce the HDO costs for the FCC unit and thereby improve overall co-processing economics. The flexibility of FCC units in taking new feedstocks and this study's economic analysis show a promising approach to transferring biomass-based carbon to transportation fuels. This transfer of carbon will require both further study and modification of the FCC unit's catalyst to improve the performance of the units and their ability to transfer more bio-based carbon to final products (rather than to coke or off-gas).

From the overall GHG-effects perspective, the production of first-generation biofuels (from corn) produces CO_2 during plant construction and operation. Thus a comprehensive study and comparison of overall GHG effects of first- and second-generation biofuels will help government agencies and policymakers in assigning the right amount of GHG credit for the co-processing operation. During co-processing, some biomass-based carbon will be transferred to LPG, off-gases, and low-value fuels. A comprehensive GHG-effects study will also be able to account for total refinery GHG emissions reduction as the final goal of government-mandated blending operations and be able to identify the right approach for accounting for bio-based carbon content.

In summary, the following research gaps were identified during the current study that will help to fully understand and improve the co-processing operation.

 Exploring the option of upgrading raw bio-oil to hydrodeoxygenated oil in the refinery's hydrotreating or hydrocracking units.

- 2. Further study and modification of the FCC unit catalyst and riser configuration. The new catalyst will improve the overall performance of the units such that bio-based carbon can be transferred to final products rather than to coke or off-gas.
- 3. Comprehensive study and comparison of overall GHG effects of first-generation biofuels and co-processing that also considers CO₂ production during ethanol or bio-oil production. The results of this comprehensive comparison will help government agencies and policymakers in assigning the right amount of GHG credit for these two different methods of producing bio-based transportation fuels.

References:

- Hoffmann, J., C.U. Jensen, and L.A. Rosendahl, Co-processing potential of HTL bio-crude at petroleum refineries–Part 1: Fractional distillation and characterization. Fuel, 2016. 165: pp. 526-535.
- Luque, R., L. Herrero-Davila, J.M. Campelo, J.H. Clark, J.M. Hidalgo, D. Luna, J.M. Marinas, and A.A. Romero, Biofuels: a technological perspective. Energy & Environmental Science, 2008. 1(5): pp. 542.
- Naik, S.N., V.V. Goud, P.K. Rout, and A.K. Dalai, Production of first and second generation biofuels: A comprehensive review. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2010. 14(2): pp. 578-597.
- Sims, R.E., W. Mabee, J.N. Saddler, and M. Taylor, An overview of second generation biofuel technologies. Bioresour Technol, 2010. 101(6): pp. 1570-80.
- Pinho, A.D., M.B.B. de Almeida, F.L. Mendes, V.L. Ximenes, and L.C. Casavechia, Coprocessing raw bio-oil and gasoil in an FCC Unit. Fuel Processing Technology, 2015. 131: pp. 159-166.
- 6. Tran, K.Q., Fast hydrothermal liquefaction for production of chemicals and biofuels from wet biomass The need to develop a plug-flow reactor. Bioresour Technol, 2016. 213: pp. 327-32.
- Kumar, M., A.O. Oyedun, and A. Kumar, Hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass for the production of diluents for bitumen transport. Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 2017. 11(5): pp. 811-829.
- 8. Demirbaş, A., Biomass resource facilities and biomass conversion processing for fuels and chemicals. Energy conversion and management, 2001. 42(11): pp. 1357-1378.

- 9. Zhang, Q., J. Chang, T. Wang, and Y. Xu, Review of biomass pyrolysis oil properties and upgrading research. Energy Conversion and Management, 2007. 48(1): pp. 87-92.
- Bridgwater, A., Principles and practice of biomass fast pyrolysis processes for liquids.
 Journal of analytical and applied pyrolysis, 1999. 51(1): pp. 3-22.
- 11. Bridgwater, A.V., Review of fast pyrolysis of biomass and product upgrading. Biomass and bioenergy, 2012. 38: pp. 68-94.
- 12. López Barreiro, D., W. Prins, F. Ronsse, and W. Brilman, Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of microalgae for biofuel production: State of the art review and future prospects. Biomass and Bioenergy, 2013. 53(0): pp. 113-127.
- 13. Xiu, S. and A. Shahbazi, Bio-oil production and upgrading research: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2012. 16(7): pp. 4406-4414.
- 14. de Miguel Mercader, F., M. Groeneveld, S. Kersten, N. Way, C. Schaverien, and J.
 Hogendoorn, Production of advanced biofuels: Co-processing of upgraded pyrolysis oil in standard refinery units. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2010. 96(1): pp. 57-66.
- 15. Fogassy, G., N. Thegarid, Y. Schuurman, and C. Mirodatos, From biomass to bio-gasoline by FCC co-processing: effect of feed composition and catalyst structure on product quality. Energy & Environmental Science, 2011. 4(12): pp. 5068-5076.
- Fogassy, G., N. Thegarid, Y. Schuurman, and C. Mirodatos, The fate of bio-carbon in FCC co-processing products. Green Chemistry, 2012. 14(5): pp. 1367-1371.
- Fogassy, G., N. Thegarid, G. Toussaint, A.C. van Veen, Y. Schuurman, and C. Mirodatos, Biomass derived feedstock co-processing with vacuum gas oil for second-generation fuel production in FCC units. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2010. 96(3): pp. 476-485.

- 18. Jensen, C.U., J. Hoffmann, and L.A. Rosendahl, Co-processing potential of HTL bio-crude at petroleum refineries. Part 2: A parametric hydrotreating study. Fuel, 2016. 165: pp. 536-543.
- Mante, O.D. and F. Agblevor, Catalytic pyrolysis for the production of refinery-ready biocrude oils from six different biomass sources. Green Chemistry, 2014. 16(6): pp. 3364-3377.
- 20. Naik, V., B. Prasad, K.K. Singh, D.K. Adhikari, M.K. Poddar, N. Atheya, and V. Kumar. Processing of fast Pyrolysis Oil-Derived Tar Fraction in Fluid Catalytic Cracking Unit. in 21st World Petroleum Congress. 2014. World Petroleum Congress.
- 21. Thegarid, N., G. Fogassy, Y. Schuurman, C. Mirodatos, S. Stefanidis, E. Iliopoulou, K. Kalogiannis, and A. Lappas, Second-generation biofuels by co-processing catalytic pyrolysis oil in FCC units. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2014. 145: pp. 161-166.
- 22. Cheng, X., M.D. Ooms, and D. Sinton, Biomass-to-biocrude on a chip via hydrothermal liquefaction of algae. Lab Chip, 2016. 16(2): pp. 256-60.
- 23. Dimitriadis, A. and S. Bezergianni, Hydrothermal liquefaction of various biomass and waste feedstocks for biocrude production: A state of the art review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2017. 68: pp. 113-125.
- 24. Bui, V.N., G. Toussaint, D. Laurenti, C. Mirodatos, and C. Geantet, Co-processing of pyrolisis bio oils and gas oil for new generation of bio-fuels: Hydrodeoxygenation of guaïacol and SRGO mixed feed. Catalysis Today, 2009. 143(1-2): pp. 172-178.
- 25. de Miguel Mercader, F., M.J. Groeneveld, S.R.A. Kersten, N.W.J. Way, C.J. Schaverien, and J.A. Hogendoorn, Production of advanced biofuels: Co-processing of upgraded pyrolysis oil in standard refinery units. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2010. 96(1-2): pp. 57-66.

- 26. Fogassy, G., N. Thegarid, G. Toussaint, A.C. van Veen, Y. Schuurman, and C. Mirodatos, Biomass derived feedstock co-processing with vacuum gas oil for second-generation fuel production in FCC units. Applied Catalysis B-Environmental, 2010. 96(3-4): pp. 476-485.
- 27. Iliopoulou, E.F., S.D. Stefanidis, K.G. Kalogiannis, A. Delimitis, A.A. Lappas, and K.S. Triantafyllidis, Catalytic upgrading of biomass pyrolysis vapors using transition metal-modified ZSM-5 zeolite. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2012. 127: pp. 281-290.
- 28. Gueudre, L., F. Chapon, C. Mirodatos, Y. Schuurman, R. Venderbosch, E. Jordan, S. Wellach, and R.M. Gutierrez, Optimizing the bio-gasoline quantity and quality in fluid catalytic cracking co-refining. Fuel, 2017. 192: pp. 60-70.
- Samolada, M.C., W. Baldauf, and I.A. Vasalos, Production of a bio-gasoline by upgrading biomass flash pyrolysis liquids via hydrogen processing and catalytic cracking. Fuel, 1998. 77(14): pp. 1667-1675.
- Mercader, F.D., M.J. Groeneveld, S.R.A. Kersten, R.H. Venderbosch, and J.A. Hogendoorn, Pyrolysis oil upgrading by high pressure thermal treatment. Fuel, 2010. 89(10): pp. 2829-2837.
- 31. Thegarid, N., G. Fogassy, Y. Schuurman, C. Mirodatos, S. Stefanidis, E.F. Iliopoulou, K. Kalogiannis, and A.A. Lappas, Second-generation biofuels by co-processing catalytic pyrolysis oil in FCC units. Applied Catalysis B-Environmental, 2014. 145: pp. 161-166.
- Bridgwater, A.V., Review of fast pyrolysis of biomass and product upgrading. Biomass & Bioenergy, 2012. 38: pp. 68-94.
- 33. Fatih Demirbas, M., Biorefineries for biofuel upgrading: A critical review. Applied Energy, 2009. 86: pp. S151-S161.

- 34. Aho, A., N. Kumar, K. Eränen, T. Salmi, M. Hupa, and D.Y. Murzin, Catalytic pyrolysis of woody biomass in a fluidized bed reactor: Influence of the zeolite structure. Fuel, 2008.
 87(12): pp. 2493-2501.
- 35. French, R. and S. Czernik, Catalytic pyrolysis of biomass for biofuels production. Fuel Processing Technology, 2010. 91(1): pp. 25-32.
- 36. Mahmood, A.S.N., J.G. Brammer, A. Hornung, A. Steele, and S. Poulston, The intermediate pyrolysis and catalytic steam reforming of Brewers spent grain. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, 2013. 103: pp. 328-342.
- 37. Melligan, F., M.H.B. Hayes, W. Kwapinski, and J.J. Leahy, A study of hydrogen pressure during hydropyrolysis of Miscanthus x giganteus and online catalytic vapour upgrading with Ni on ZSM-5. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, 2013. 103: pp. 369-377.
- Chang, Z., P. Duan, and Y. Xu, Catalytic hydropyrolysis of microalgae: influence of operating variables on the formation and composition of bio-oil. Bioresour Technol, 2015. 184: pp. 349-54.
- 39. Nguyen, T.S., S. He, G. Raman, and K. Seshan, Catalytic hydro-pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass over dual Na 2 CO 3 /Al 2 O 3 and Pt/Al 2 O 3 catalysts using n-butane at ambient pressure. Chemical Engineering Journal, 2016. 299: pp. 415-419.
- 40. Resende, F.L.P., Recent advances on fast hydropyrolysis of biomass. Catalysis Today, 2016.269: pp. 148-155.
- 41. Haarlemmer, G., C. Guizani, S. Anouti, M. Déniel, A. Roubaud, and S. Valin, Analysis and comparison of bio-oils obtained by hydrothermal liquefaction and fast pyrolysis of beech wood. Fuel, 2016. 174: pp. 180-188.

- 42. Hoffmann, J., C.U. Jensen, and L.A. Rosendahl, Co-processing potential of HTL bio-crude at petroleum refineries - Part 1: Fractional distillation and characterization. Fuel, 2016. 165: pp. 526-535.
- 43. Xiu, S.N. and A. Shahbazi, Bio-oil production and upgrading research: A review. Renewable& Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2012. 16(7): pp. 4406-4414.
- 44. Castello, D. and L. Rosendahl, Coprocessing of pyrolysis oil in refineries. 2018: pp. 293-317.
- 45. Ensyn's technology. [06 Sep. 2020]; Available from: http://www.ensyn.com/technology.html.
- 46. Sharma, A., V. Pareek, and D. Zhang, Biomass pyrolysis—A review of modelling, process parameters and catalytic studies. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2015. 50: pp. 1081-1096.
- 47. Al-Sabawi, M., J.W. Chen, and S. Ng, Fluid Catalytic Cracking of Biomass-Derived Oils and Their Blends with Petroleum Feedstocks: A Review. Energy & Fuels, 2012. 26(9): pp. 5355-5372.
- 48. Yang, Y., J.G. Brammer, A.S.N. Mahmood, and A. Hornung, Intermediate pyrolysis of biomass energy pellets for producing sustainable liquid, gaseous and solid fuels. Bioresour Technol, 2014. 169: pp. 794-799.
- Hornung, A., 8 Intermediate pyrolysis of biomass, in Biomass Combustion Science, Technology and Engineering, L. Rosendahl, Editor. 2013, Woodhead Publishing. pp. 172-186.
- 50. The biobattery. [25 Dec. 2019]; Available from: https://www.umsichtsuro.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/umsicht-

suro/en/documents/produktblaetter_englisch/161215_Biobatteriebroschure_en_neu_gesch%C 3%BCtzt.pdf.

- 51. Neumann, J., J. Meyer, M. Ouadi, A. Apfelbacher, S. Binder, and A. Hornung, The conversion of anaerobic digestion waste into biofuels via a novel Thermo-Catalytic Reforming process. Waste Manag, 2016. 47(Pt A): pp. 141-8.
- 52. Kirby, M.E., A. Hornung, M. Ouadi, and M.K. Theodorou, The role of thermo-catalytic reforming for energy recovery from food and drink supply chain wastes. Energy Procedia, 2017. 123: pp. 15-21.
- 53. Ouadi, M., N. Jaeger, C. Greenhalf, J. Santos, R. Conti, and A. Hornung, Thermo-Catalytic Reforming of municipal solid waste. Waste Manag, 2017. 68: pp. 198-206.
- 54. Oyedun, A., V. Kurian, M. Gil, A. Kumar, R. Gupta, and L. Kostiuk. Biobattery-Decentralised production of Fuel from Forest and Agricultural Waste. [09 Sep. 2020]; Available from: https://futureenergysystems.ca/public/download/documents/44552.
- 55. Neumann, J., N. Jäger, A. Apfelbacher, R. Daschner, S. Binder, and A. Hornung, Upgraded biofuel from residue biomass by Thermo-Catalytic Reforming and hydrodeoxygenation. Biomass and Bioenergy, 2016. 89: pp. 91-97.
- 56. Venderbosch, R.H., A critical view on catalytic pyrolysis of biomass. ChemSusChem, 2015.8(8): pp. 1306-16.
- 57. Kabir, G. and B.H. Hameed, Recent progress on catalytic pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass to high-grade bio-oil and bio-chemicals. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2017. 70: pp. 945-967.
- 58. hu, C., Y. Yang, J. Luo, P. Pan, D. Tong, and G. Li, Recent advances in the catalytic pyrolysis of biomass. Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering, 2011. 5: pp. 188-193.

- 59. Balagurumurthy, B., T.S. Oza, T. Bhaskar, and D.K. Adhikari, Renewable hydrocarbons through biomass hydropyrolysis process: challenges and opportunities. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management, 2013. 15(1): pp. 9-15.
- 60. Marker, T.L., L.G. Felix, M.B. Linck, and M.J. Roberts, Integrated hydropyrolysis and hydroconversion (IH2) for the direct production of gasoline and diesel fuels or blending components from biomass, part 1: Proof of principle testing. Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy, 2012. 31(2): pp. 191-199.
- Gollakota, A.R.K., N. Kishore, and S. Gu, A review on hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2018. 81: pp. 1378-1392.
- 62. Kumar, M., A. Olajire Oyedun, and A. Kumar, A review on the current status of various hydrothermal technologies on biomass feedstock. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2018. 81: pp. 1742-1770.
- 63. Holladay, J. Technical and Economic Aspects for Hydrothermal Liquefaction of Algae. 2013
 [09 Sep. 2020]; Available from: http://algaebiomass.org/wp-content/gallery/2012-algaebiomass-summit/2010/06/Holladay_John1.pdf.
- 64. Albrecht, K.O., Y. Zhu, A.J. Schmidt, J.M. Billing, T.R. Hart, S.B. Jones, G. Maupin, R. Hallen, T. Ahrens, and D. Anderson, Impact of heterotrophically stressed algae for biofuel production via hydrothermal liquefaction and catalytic hydrotreating in continuous-flow reactors. Algal Research, 2016. 14: pp. 17-27.
- 65. Cao, L., C. Zhang, H. Chen, D.C.W. Tsang, G. Luo, S. Zhang, and J. Chen, Hydrothermal liquefaction of agricultural and forestry wastes: state-of-the-art review and future prospects. Bioresour Technol, 2017. 245(Pt A): pp. 1184-1193.

- 66. Feng, S., Z. Yuan, M. Leitch, and C.C. Xu, Hydrothermal liquefaction of barks into biocrude – Effects of species and ash content/composition. Fuel, 2014. 116: pp. 214-220.
- 67. Zhu, Y., M.J. Biddy, S.B. Jones, D.C. Elliott, and A.J. Schmidt, Techno-economic analysis of liquid fuel production from woody biomass via hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) and upgrading. Applied Energy, 2014. 129: pp. 384-394.
- 68. Elliott, D.C., Historical developments in hydroprocessing bio-oils. Energy & Fuels, 2007.21(3): pp. 1792-1815.
- 69. Elliott, D.C., T.R. Hart, G.G. Neuenschwander, L.J. Rotness, and A.H. Zacher, Catalytic hydroprocessing of biomass fast pyrolysis bio-oil to produce hydrocarbon products. Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy, 2009. 28(3): pp. 441-449.
- 70. Butler, E., G. Devlin, D. Meier, and K. McDonnell, A review of recent laboratory research and commercial developments in fast pyrolysis and upgrading. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2011. 15(8): pp. 4171-4186.
- 71. French, R.J., J. Hrdlicka, and R. Baldwin, Mild Hydrotreating of Biomass Pyrolysis Oils to Produce a Suitable Refinery Feedstock. Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy, 2010.
 29(2): pp. 142-150.
- 72. Talmadge, M.S., R.M. Baldwin, M.J. Biddy, R.L. McCormick, G.T. Beckham, G.A. Ferguson, S. Czernik, K.A. Magrini-Bair, T.D. Foust, P.D. Metelski, C. Hetrick, and M.R. Nimlos, A perspective on oxygenated species in the refinery integration of pyrolysis oil. Green Chemistry, 2014. 16(2): pp. 407-453.
- 73. Mante, O.D. and F.A. Agblevor, Catalytic pyrolysis for the production of refinery-ready biocrude oils from six different biomass sources. Green Chemistry, 2014. 16(6): pp. 3364-3377.

- 74. Neumann, J., S. Binder, A. Apfelbacher, J.R. Gasson, P.R. Garcia, and A. Hornung,
 Production and characterization of a new quality pyrolysis oil, char and syngas from digestate
 Introducing the thermo-catalytic reforming process. Journal of Analytical and Applied
 Pyrolysis, 2015. 113: pp. 137-142.
- 75. Al-Sabawi, M. and J.W. Chen, Hydroprocessing of Biomass-Derived Oils and Their Blends with Petroleum Feedstocks: A Review. Energy & Fuels, 2012. 26(9): pp. 5373-5399.
- 76. Yildiz, G., F. Ronsse, R.v. Duren, and W. Prins, Challenges in the design and operation of processes for catalytic fast pyrolysis of woody biomass. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2016. 57: pp. 1596-1610.
- 77. Pinho, A.D., M.B.B. de Almeida, F.L. Mendes, L.C. Casavechia, M.S. Talmadge, C.M. Kinchin, and H.L. Chum, Fast pyrolysis oil from pinewood chips co-processing with vacuum gas oil in an FCC unit for second generation fuel production. Fuel, 2017. 188: pp. 462-473.
- 78. Michael Talmadge, Helena Chum, Christopher Kinchin, Yimin Zhang, M. Biddy, Andrea de Rezende Pinho, Marlon B.B. de Almeida, Fabio Leal Mendes, L.C. Casavechia, and B. Freel. Analysis for co-processing fast pyrolysis oil with VGO in FCC units for second generation fuel production. [02 Nov. 2018]; Available from:

https://www.arb.ca.gov/fuels/lcfs/lcfs_meetings/12132016nrel.pdf.

- 79. Lappas, A.A., S. Bezergianni, and I.A. Vasalos, Production of biofuels via co-processing in conventional refining processes. Catalysis Today, 2009. 145(1-2): pp. 55-62.
- 80. Mortensen, P.M., J.D. Grunwaldt, P.A. Jensen, K.G. Knudsen, and A.D. Jensen, A review of catalytic upgrading of bio-oil to engine fuels. Applied Catalysis a-General, 2011. 407(1-2): pp. 1-19.

- 81. Gary, J.H., G.E. Handwerk, and M.J. Kaiser, Petroleum refining: technology and economics.
 2007: CRC press.
- Jechura, J. Colorado School of Mines, Course handnotes (petroleum refining processes). [09 Sep. 2020]; Available from: https://people.mines.edu/jjechura/wpcontent/uploads/sites/120/2019/02/CBEN409_07_Catalytic_Cracking.pdf.
- 83. Corma, A., G. Huber, L. Sauvanaud, and P. Oconnor, Processing biomass-derived oxygenates in the oil refinery: Catalytic cracking (FCC) reaction pathways and role of catalyst. Journal of Catalysis, 2007. 247(2): pp. 307-327.
- 84. Agblevor, F.A., O. Mante, R. McClung, and S.T. Oyama, Co-processing of standard gas oil and biocrude oil to hydrocarbon fuels. Biomass & Bioenergy, 2012. 45: pp. 130-137.
- 85. Wang, C.X., M.R. Li, and Y.M. Fang, Coprocessing of Catalytic-Pyrolysis-Derived Bio-Oil with VGO in a Pilot-Scale FCC Riser. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2016. 55(12): pp. 3525-3534.
- 86. Aspen HYSYS refinery reactors. [07 Sep. 2020]; Available from: https://www.aspentech.com/en/products/pages/refinery-reactors.
- 87. Huber, G.W., S. Iborra, and A. Corma, Synthesis of transportation fuels from biomass: chemistry, catalysts, and engineering. Chem Rev, 2006. 106(9): pp. 4044-98.
- 88. Rodríguez, E., A. Gutiérrez, R. Palos, F.J. Vela, M.J. Azkoiti, J.M. Arandes, and J. Bilbao, Co-cracking of high-density polyethylene (HDPE) and vacuum gasoil (VGO) under refinery conditions. Chemical Engineering Journal, 2020. 382: pp. 122602.
- 89. de Mello, L.F., R.D.M. Pimenta, G.T. Moure, O.R.C. Pravia, L. Gearhart, P.B. Milios, and T. Melien, A technical and economical evaluation of CO2 capture from FCC units. Energy Procedia, 2009. 1(1): pp. 117-124.

- 90. Vogt, E.T. and B.M. Weckhuysen, Fluid catalytic cracking: recent developments on the grand old lady of zeolite catalysis. Chem Soc Rev, 2015. 44(20): pp. 7342-70.
- 91. Chang, A.F., K. Pashikanti, and Y.A. Liu, Predictive Modeling of the Fluid Catalytic Cracking (FCC) Process, in Refinery Engineering: Integrated Process Modeling and Optimization. 2013, John Wiley & Sons. pp. 145-251.
- 92. de Rezende Pinho, A., M.B.B. de Almeida, F.L. Mendes, and V.L. Ximenes, Production of lignocellulosic gasoline using fast pyrolysis of biomass and a conventional refining scheme. Pure and Applied Chemistry, 2014. 86(5).
- 93. OPIS International Feedstocks Intelligence Report (sample report). 2019 [cited 2018; Available from: https://www.opisnet.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/feedstocks-reportsample.pdf.
- 94. Patel, M., A. Oyedun, A. Kumar, and R. Gupta, A Techno-Economic Assessment of Renewable Diesel and Gasoline Production from Aspen Hardwood. Waste and Biomass Valorization, 2018.
- 95. Transportation fuel prices. 2018 [01 Aug. 2018]; Available from: https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/our-natural-resources/domestic-and-internationalmarkets/transportation-fuel-prices/4593.
- 96. Government of Canada, Pricing carbon pollution from industry. [24 Sep. 2020]; Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work/industry/pricing-carbon-pollution.html.
- 97. Bank of Canada Annual Exchange Rates
- [cited 2019; Available from: https://www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/exchange/annual-average-exchange-rates/.

98. U.S. Energy Information Administration Annual Energy Outlook 2019. [01 Nov. 2018]; Available from: https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/index.php.

Appendix A.

Main stream results of the process simulation are summarized in Table A.1 and Table A.2 for VGO and VGO+HDO cases, respectivly. Figure A.1 shows the developed process simulation flowsheet.

	TT •4	BIOMASS	FCC FFFI UENT	T201_	SS_T201_
	Unit	DERIVED INT.	FUUENT	Steam	Diesel_Steam
Vapour Fraction		0.72	1.00	1.00	1.00
Temperature	С	175.00	517.36	240.00	240.00
Pressure	kPa	300.00	300.13	1,351.33	1,351.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	0.00	1,756.83	153.06	15.62
Mass Flow	kg/h	0.00	110,297.87	2,757.45	281.45
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	0.00	153.69	2.76	0.28
Heat Flow	kJ/h	0.00E+00	-1.47E+08	-3.60E+07	-3.67E+06
		T201_Slurry	T201_Wet_	T201_Diesel_	T301_Ovhd
			Gas	Product	
Vapour Fraction		0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00
Temperature	С	345.00	41.00	175.03	43.53
Pressure	kPa	301.73	255.03	272.54	1,300.33

 Table A.1. Simulation results of process main stream (VGO only case)

790.68

62.31

34,031.98

-4.21E+07

188.15

38.83

34,900.20

-6.60E+07

284.36

6,707.10

-1.14E+07

16.37

kgmole/h

kg/h

m3/h

kJ/h

13.72

4.57

4,683.35

-6.94E+06

Molar Flow

Mass Flow

Heat Flow

Liquid Volume Flow

	Unit	T301_Bottoms	T303_DryGas	T302_Ovhd	T302_Btm
Vapour Fraction		0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00
Temperature	С	56.70	38.23	48.34	152.06
Pressure	kPa	1,322.33	1,200.33	1,266.33	1,301.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	5,822.02	230.13	2,599.17	4,541.12
Mass Flow	kg/h	425,719.89	4,297.91	98,875.17	382,922.90
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	626.01	11.86	175.34	548.60
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-7.99E+08	-7.81E+06	-7.72E+07	-6.51E+08

		T304_LPG	T304_Gasoline_
			Product
Vapour Fraction		0.00	0.00
Temperature	С	46.83	35.00
Pressure	kPa	1,171.33	1,202.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	437.67	410.35
Mass Flow	kg/h	21,791.89	36,113.10
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	39.33	50.93
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-2.38E+07	-7.36E+07

	TT • 4	BIOMASS	ECC FEELUENT	T201_	SS_T201_
	Umt	DERIVED INT.	FCC EFFEUEIU	Steam	Diesel_Steam
Vapour Fraction		0.72	1.00	1.00	1.00
Temperature	С	175.00	517.37	240.00	240.00
Pressure	kPa	300.00	300.13	1,351.33	1,351.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	94.31	1,738.87	153.35	15.63
Mass Flow	kg/h	10,820.80	110,502.94	2,762.57	281.59
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	11.72	152.99	2.77	0.28
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-1.73E+07	-1.48E+08	-3.60E+07	-3.67E+06

Table A.2. Simulation results of	process main stream	(VGO + HDO case)
----------------------------------	---------------------	------------------

		T201_Slurry	T201_Wet_	T201_Diesel_	T301_Ovhd
			Gas	Product	
Vapour Fraction		0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00
Temperature	С	345.00	41.00	175.02	43.82
Pressure	kPa	301.73	255.03	272.54	1,300.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	12.93	742.21	191.33	265.53
Mass Flow	kg/h	4,382.42	32,064.34	35,194.60	6,273.13
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	4.26	58.50	39.10	15.22
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-6.52E+06	-3.94E+07	-6.66E+07	-1.06E+07

	Unit	T301_Bottoms	T303_DryGas	T302_Ovhd	T302_Btm
Vapour Fraction		0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00
Temperature	С	57.29	38.25	47.76	153.70
Pressure	kPa	1,322.33	1,200.33	1,266.33	1,301.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	6,110.14	211.47	2,812.02	4,701.44
Mass Flow	kg/h	445,240.08	3,910.68	106,941.56	397,381.43
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	651.44	10.80	184.66	568.41
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-8.32E+08	-7.13E+06	-7.87E+07	-6.76E+08

		T304_LPG	T304_Gasoline_
			Product
Vapour Fraction		0.00	0.00
Temperature	С	47.08	35.00
Pressure	kPa	1,171.33	1,202.33
Molar Flow	kgmole/h	418.35	428.31
Mass Flow	kg/h	20,859.60	37,652.18
Liquid Volume Flow	m3/h	37.61	53.08
Heat Flow	kJ/h	-2.25E+07	-7.68E+07



Figure A.1: Simulation model main flowsheet